
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a Regular City Council Meeting 
on Monday, October 10, 2023, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought   
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Public Forum in accordance with City Charter Section 2.10 (i)(b)  
(PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL BE SHARED DURING 
PUBLIC FORUM. EMAIL:  dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 
5. Minutes            Pages 

a. Regular City Council meeting – July 24, 2023      02-08 
6. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 
7. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
8. Reports by Staff and Committees 

a. Presentation of 2022 Audit – Felch & Company      09-64 
b. Manager’s Report         65-97 

9. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 
a. Library 2024 – 2028 Strategic Plan – Library Director Peter Baldwin   98-113 
b. Countersign the RSU#39 Bond Referendum Warrant     114-117 
c. Approve contract with NMDC for LDD services pursuant to the NBRC grant  118-121 
d. Approve by-laws of the Caribou Development Committee    122-126 
e. Sale of Municipal Property – pellet silos       127-129 
f. Discussion & possible action to consider accepting a deed to 7 Water Street  130-135  

10. Old Business 
11. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members     Reports 
12. Next Regular Meetings:  October 23, November 13 & 27, December 11   136-148 
13. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a.    Discussion of personnel matter pursuant to MRSA Title 1, §405.6.A 
14. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


July 24, 2023 
23-14 Pg.  1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council meeting on Monday, July 24, 2023, in the Council 
Chambers with the following members present; Mayor Smith, Councilors Bagley, Goughan, 
Morrill, Theriault and Willey.  Deputy Mayor Boma was present via Zoom.  

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting.  

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via 
Spectrum and YouTube.  

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Smith read an invocation. 

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

There were no comments made by the public.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

There were no minutes submitted for approval.  

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards and Appointments 

a.  Bids for work at the Nylander Museum of Natural History 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the bid from 
Aroostook Power Washing LLC.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

a. Application for Malt Liquor, Wine & Spirits sales for RJ Rossignol LLC DBA Bechard’s 
Grille 

Open Public Hearing:  6:15 p.m. 

There were no comments from the public.  

Close Public Hearing: 6:16 p.m. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to approve the liquor 
license application from RJ Rossignol, LLC DBA Bechard’s Grille at 30 Skyway Drive Unit 
300/400. 

2



July 24, 2023 
23-14 Pg.  2 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

b.  Dangerous Building Public Hearing – 7 Water Street, Map 31, Lot 171 

Open Public Hearing: 6:17 p.m. 

Mayor Smith recessed the public hearing until August 28th.  

c.  Dangerous Building Public Hearing – 24 Park Street, Map 35 Lot 73 

Open Public Hearing:  6:20 p.m. 

Councilor Willey asked when Ms. Mueller was served. 

Manager Thompson responded that she was served after the last meeting.  She also explained 
that the property owner was ignoring the notices because she thought that she was losing the 
property due to bankruptcy.   

Mark Leuhrs, Caribou Resident 

Can the City do something instead of tearing it down and explained that he believes that it is a 
beautiful spot for something.    

Mayor Smith explained that in this process the biggest expense when tearing down a home is the 
abatement which can be costly.   

Manager Thompson explained that the City would go out to bid for the demo and that it would 
have to be hauled off to the landfill where there is also an additional fee.  After the demolition 
and disposal is done the City sends a bill to the owner of the property and if they don’t pay it 
then it becomes a special tax at the next commitment.    

Mayor Smith recessed the public hearing until August 28th.   

Councilor Bagley and Councilor Morrill both expressed concern about recessing the hearing 
until a later date and stated that it should go to a vote of the Council.  

Closed public hearing at 6:32 p.m. 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault to recess the public hearing until August 28th for the 
property at 24 Park Street.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to consider the property at 24 
Park Street a dangerous building and continue with the process that abdicates that.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
–No, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – No, C. (So voted) 

Agenda item 7 b Continued 

3



July 24, 2023 
23-14 Pg.  3 

Manager Thompson read an email from the City attorney regarding the property at 7 Water 
Street, that in exchange for the cleanup of the property, the Bickford’s would deed the property to 
the City.  

Closed the public hearing at 6:37 p.m. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Mayor Smith to deem the property at 7 Water 
Street a dangerous building and continue the process in order to eliminate that situation.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, Boma – No, R.M. Goughan –No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault –
No, L. Willey – No, J. Smith – Yes, C. (Motion failed) 

d.  Charter Amendment Public Hearing – Ordinance 3, 2023 Series, Charter Amendment, and 
Ordinance to Amend the Capital Improvement Referendum Process 

Open the public hearing at 6:40 p.m.  

Councilor Goughan explained that in his opinion it is not so much dealing with a majority of 
votes that show up, but that when you spend over $500,000 and the vote is put in front of the 
people in the June election when people are not used to voting.  He suggested that it would be 
best to wait until the November election when people are used to voting.    

Councilor Willey explained that we put that it needs to have that it would be at a November 
election because a 65% turnout is not reasonable.   

Deputy Mayor Boma stated that she agrees with Councilor Willey, and that even in November 
we rarely have a 65% turnout.   

Councilor Theriault stated that maybe what they need to do is clarify what the 65% is.  It is not a 
majority of the 65% of the turnout, it means that 65% of the voters in Caribou would need to 
turnout to vote on the topic.  

Doug Morrell, Caribou Resident 

Mr. Morrell came in and stated that the ordinance was meant to control how the council spends.  
He stated that the decisions should be made by those who pay the bills.  He stated he believes 
that if you want to do something you need to sell it to the public.  

Councilor Bagley explained that a significant number of people passed the vote.  He stated that 
he thinks that most people understood what they were voting on, and it was passed.  Councilor 
Bagley stated that it was passed, but that he agrees that 65% of voter turnout is too high, because 
it has not been achieved more than 1 time in 13 years.   He proposed to change it to a 45% voter 
turnout rather than the 65% which is achievable in November elections.  

Councilor Willey stated that the ordinance was approved with less than 65% turnout.  She 
believes that everything over $500,000 has to be brought to the voters, so that is the parameter 
there. She stated that she has no issue with putting in what Councilor Goughan had mentioned 
about it having to be a fall vote.  

4



July 24, 2023 
23-14 Pg.  4 

Councilor Morrill stated that he agrees that $500,000 is a lot of money and that it should go to 
the vote of the people.  He explained that majority rules, just like when he became a councilor it 
was because majority elected him as a Councilor. He stated that when the question first came to 
him, he did not understand that it meant that it meant 65% of the registered voters in Caribou.  
He is in favor for it to be a majority vote on a November ballot. 

Deputy Mayor Boma explained that in history things have been amended several times.   

Closed Public Hearing at 7:00 p.m.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to put the charter 
amendment on the November 7th ballot.  

Councilor Willey suggested that they amend the motion to include that it be on a November 
ballot.  

Councilor Morrill amended his motion, and it was seconded by Councilor Theriault to put the 
charter amendment on the November 7th Ballot and that any capital improvement exceeding 
$500,000 would need to be approved by the voters by a majority vote of the public on a 
November ballot.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault –
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – No, C. (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  June 2023 Financials – Finance Director 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the June 2023 Financial report.  

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the June 2023 
Financial report as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
–Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

b.  Tax acquired property at 375 Belanger Road – legal update 

At the May 22, 2023, City Council meeting, then-CEO Ken Murchison brought up properties for 
the City Council to consider dangerous buildings. He stated that the property at 375 Belanger 
Road is tax-acquired property and he suggested that an eviction process be started. The 
occupants are working with Matthew Dyer of Pine Tree Legal Assistance, Inc. They claim that 
the City failed to strictly follow the statutory procedures for automatic foreclosure. The City 
Council should decide if it is worth the expense to fight this in court. 

Mayor Smith asked if we own the property.   

Manager Thompson explained that as far as the City is concerned the property is tax acquired.  

 

5



July 24, 2023 
23-14 Pg.  5 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) explained that he brought the lien to the registry on the 22nd.  It 
was during COVID, and he was unable to go to the register to stay and watch.  It was Memorial 
Day weekend and they processed it on Tuesday.  He stated that there was a 30-day lien notice 
that had been sent which would be what could stand up in court.  

c.  City Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s report dated July 24, 2023. 

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  PILOT – Caribou Solar LLC 46 Dow Siding Road 

Caribou Solar LLC has a solar installation at 46 Dow Siding Road. They have offered to enter 
into an agreement for a payment in lieu of taxes. For 2023 tax year, the equipment at the site in 
BETE exempt. Starting in the tax year 2024, the solar installation will be exempt under the 
renewable energy exemption because it will be generating power. The PILOT agreement would 
start once the installation begins to produce power. It should also be noted that although solar 
installations that started construction after October 1, 2021, are subject to a decommissioning 
plan requirement, Caribou Solar LLC started construction in September 2021, so would not be 
subject to this decommissioning requirement. Therefore, I would recommend that any proceeds 
of the PILOT be placed in a reserve account if funds are needed for decommissioning.   

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to authorize City Manager 
Penny Thompson to execute the PILOT agreement with ENGIE and place any proceeds into a 
reserve account.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
–Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

b.  MMA Annual Election ballot 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to support the candidates 
proposed by the MMA Nominating committee and either authorize and designate City Manager 
Penny Thompson to sign the ballot, or circulate and sign after the meeting. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
–Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

c.  Member Services Agreement with NMDC for 2024 Comprehensive Plan 

Councilor Bagley asked if there was any information of who the staff would be that would be 
working on the plan. 

Manager Thompson explained that she received the information back when the former CEO was 
still here and it had previously been sent to the Council.  She stated that one of the people that 
will be working on the contract will be Jay Kamm.   

The City of Caribou must submit an updated Comprehensive Plan in 2024. The City Council has 
appropriated money in support of this. The Planning Board will be taking the lead on this project, 

6



July 24, 2023 
23-14 Pg.  6 

assisted by City Staff. There are some components of the 2024 Comprehensive Plan that will 
require professional assistance. NMDC has assisted the City of Caribou in the past and is willing 
to assist on the 2024 Comprehensive Plan at a member-reduced rate of $20,000. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to authorize City Manager 
Penny Thompson to sign the agreement with NMDC for work on the 2024 Comprehensive Plan.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
–Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

d.  2023 American Rescue Plan Act grant award from Aroostook County - $100,349 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept, and sign the 
agreement with Aroostook County for the grant funding in the amount of $100,349.   

Councilor Bagley asked which reserve accounts the funds would be going into.  

Manager Thompson explained that the funding would be allocated through several accounts.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
–Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

e.  Resolution 07-02-2023, Establishing the 2023 Property Tax Rates and Related Deadlines 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to rescind the motion 
relating to the setting of the 2023 tax rate at 18.55 which was adopted at the July 10, 2023, City 
Council Meeting. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault –
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Mayor Smith to rescind items tow through 
seven on Resolution 07-01-2023 which was adopted at the July 10, 2023, City Council Meeting 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
–Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to reduce the 2023 Capital 
Budget by $87,000 in account # G 1-373-50 from $173,500 to $86,500. Money was appropriated 
for 12-months of payments on the loan approved last year to make repairs to municipal buildings 
and other capital projects. The loan was not taken out until June so there will only be 6 
payments. The monthly payment amount is $14, 277.32. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
–Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to set the 2023 tax rate at 
.02000 or 20.00 mils. 

7



July 24, 2023 
23-14 Pg.  7 

Councilor Goughan stated that he would like to use the $191 thousand that is in the relief fund 
which would reduce this by roughly ½ of a mil.  

Councilor Theriault rescinded her motion, and Councilor Willey rescinded her second to the 
motion to set the 2023 tax rate at .02000 or 20.00 mils.  

Councilor Goughan made a motion, seconded by Mayor Smith to move the money from the 
Resource Reserve Account in the amount of $188,540.10 to offset the expense budget for the 
year.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan –Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
–Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Mayor Smith set a meeting for August 14th to set the mil rate.  

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

There were no topics scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Deputy Mayor Boma stated that she has been hearing from residents about an impending rat 
problem and that more rats are being sighted, and it should be something that is looked into.  

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Meetings- Special Council Meeting August 14, Regular 
meeting August 28th.  

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) 

a.  Executive Session to obtain legal counsel pursuant to MRSA, Title 1, §405.6.E 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill to enter executive session at 7:56 p.m. to obtain legal counsel 
pursuant to MRSA, Title 1, §405.6.E. 

Vote was unanimously approved.  

Council exited executive session at 8:25 p.m. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to authorize City Attorney 
Richard Solman to correspond with attorney for Cary Medical Center and Caribou Hospital 
District Board to advise of procedural issues that he has noted that will be addressed by the 
Caribou City Council.  

Vote was unanimously approved.  

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to adjourn the meeting at 
8:30 p.m. 

Vote was unanimously approved. Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

8



9



FELCH & COMPANY LLC
Curt(t / 9"Gti" oftecounhntt

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE
as of

DECEMBER3I,2022

10



Financial Statements

11



I-V

Exhibit

Supplement

A

B

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Table of Cor-tents

Independent Auditors' Report

Required Supplefnental InformAtion

Management's Discussion and Analysis

Basic Financial Statements

City-Wide Financial Statements

Statement of Net Position

Statement of Activities

Fund Financial Sjatements

Governmental Funds:

Balance Sheet

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet with the Statement of Net Position

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statemen: of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances with the City-Wide Statement of Activities

Fiduciarv Funds:

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Notes to the Financial Statements

Other Required Supplemental Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule for the General Fund

Note to Supplement I - Budgetary Comparison Sch.edule for the General Fund

Modified Approach for City Capital Assets

Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

Schedule of the City's Contributions

Notes to Supplements 3 and 4

Schedule of Change in Net Other Post-Employmenr Benefits (OPEB) Liability -
Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust

Notes to Supplement 5

C

D

E

F

G

G

I

2

J

4

5

12



Schedule

I

)

3

4

5

Pase

It
T-L

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Table of ConEnts

Balance Sheet for Non-Major Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balarrce for Non-Major Funds

Schedule of Capital Outlays - General Fund

Schedule of Non-Capital Outlays - General Fund

Schedule ofProperty Taxes - General Fund

Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control O'.rer Financial Reporting and on Compliance and

Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial StatenEnts Performed in Accordance with Government

Auditing Standards

Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance for ea'Jr Major Program and on Internal Control Over

Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Notes to the Scheduie of Expenditures of Federal Anards

Schedule of Prior Audit Findings

3-4

5

6

7

8

13



FELCH & COMPANY LLC
&.uf d Q"Gtu eftecount.ntt

P.O. BOX 906
CARIBOU, MAINE 04736

(2O7) 49A-3t76
FAX (2O7) 498-6278

E-MAr L: cea@reucHcPA.coM

Indecendent AudiErs' Repor:

To the City Council of the

City of Caribou, Maine

Opinions
We have audited the accompanying financial s:atements of *.e governmental activities and each major fund of the

City of Caribou, Maine ur oi und for the year ended Decemher 31,2022, and the related notes to the financial

statements, which collectively comprise the Ci:y's basic finarcial statements as listed in the table of contents'

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above prea3nt fairly, in all material respects, the respective

financiai position of the governmental activities and each maj rr fund of tre City of Caribou, Maine, as of

Decembei 31,2022, and the respective changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended in accordance

with accounting principles generally accepted -n the United S:ates of A:nerica,

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with au,Jiting standards generally accepted in the United States of America

and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the

Comptroller Generai of the United States. Our responsibiliti= under tLore standards are further described in the

Audiiors, Responsibilities for the Audit of the Finincial Sta:=nents sectirn of our report. We are required to be

independent of the City of Caribou, Maine and to meet our otrer ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the

relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We belie're that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis fq. our audit opinions.

Emphasis of Matter a.'
As discussed in Note l, the financial statements referred to at ove include only the primary government of the

City of Caribou, Maine, which consists of all funds, organizations, inst-tutions, agencies, departments, and offices

thaicomprise the City'; legal entity. These primary governnent financial statements do not include financial data

for the City,s legally separate component units, which accorrting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America require to be reported with the hnancial ca;a of the Ciry's primary government' Al l result, the

primary government irnancialstatements do not purport to, anddo not present fairly the financialposition of the

ieportinientity of the City of Caribou, Maine, ur of D.r".:er 31, 2022,the changes in its financial position or,

*i,"r" aiplicable, its castrflows thereof for the year then enred in acccrrdance with accounting principles

g.n.rulfy u.cepted in the United States of Amarica. our opinion is not nodified with respect to this matter,

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsiblJ for the preparatior. and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance

*iin u.rounting principles generally accepted in the United !tates of America, and for the design, implementa-

tion , and mainienance of iritemal control relevant to the prefaration ar.d fair presentation of financial statements

that ale free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error'

114



To the City Council of the
City of Caribou, Maine

In preparing the hnancial statements, management is required lo waluate whether there are conditions or events,

considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt abou: the lity o: Daribou's abiiity to continue as a going
concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement da:a iruluding any cunently knorvn information that

may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan:ial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or enor, and to ixue an audiErrs' report that includes our opinions.
Reasonable assurance is a high level ofassurance but is not ablolute ass:rance and therefore is not a guarantee

that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepte: auiiting standards and Government Auditing
Standqrds will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Th; risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resu--ing from e r:or, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of intemal control. Misstatements are

considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, ind-vicually,rr in the aggregate, they would influence
the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financirl statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generaily acceptec auc-ting slardards and Government Auditing
Standards, we:

o Exercise professionaljudgment and mairtain professi:nal rkeptici;m throughout the audit.

r Identify and assess the risks of materiai :nisstatement oith: finar-c-al statements, whether due to fraud or:

enor, and design and perform audit procedures responrive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the am,:unt= and dislosures in the financial stateurents.

. Obtain an understanding of internai conffol reievant to :he audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpor3 ciexpres;ing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the City of Caribou's internal control. A.ccordingly, no such opinirn is expressed

o Evaluate the appropriateness ofaccounting policies usd ard the rcasonableness ofsignificant accounting

estimates made by management, as weil as evaluate th: owrall presentation of the financial statements.

r Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditio'!s c: evenls considered in the aggregate, that raise

substantial doubt about the City of Caribou's ability tr: rontinue as a going concern for a reasonatrie period

of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with go'/ern,rnce reguding, among other matters, the planned

scope and timing of the audit, significant audit t-rndings, and certain interral control-related matters that we

identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United Stater of America require that the management's

discussion and analysis and budgetary, public pension, and oter post-emrloyment benefit information be

presented to supplement the basic financial stat-aments, SucL infcrmaticn is the responsibility of management

and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards

Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial report-:rg for p acing the basic financial statements in
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. 'we bave app ied certain limited procedures to the

required supplementary information in accordarce with audi:-ng standarG generally accepted in the United States

of America, which consisted of inquiries of maragement abcul th: metk-ds of preparing the information and

comparing the information for consistency witl, managemen: s relponses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the baii: financial statements, We do not

express an opinion or provide iny ursutunce on the informat-,xr b:cause tre limited procedures do not provide us

with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

)15



To the City Council of the
City of Caribou, Maine

Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions m th: ltnarcial statements that collectively

comprise the City of Caribou, Maine's basic financial statemerts. The accompanying combining and individual

nonmajor fund financial statements, schedules of capital and mn-capital o,rtlays, schedule of property taxes and

scheduie of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 J,S. C.ole of Federal Regulations Parl200,
(Iniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and A'"dit Requitetnents for Federal Awards, are

presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a req;ired part of the basic financial statements. Such

information is the responsibility of management and was derived from anc relates directly to the underlying

accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financiil statementi, The information has been subjected

to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financia- stateffents and certain additional procedures,

including comparing and reconciling such infornation directly to -re underlying accounting and other records

used to pl.puti the basic financial statements or to the basic fiaancial statements themselves, and other additional

procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally axepted in th: United States of America. In our

bpinion, the combining and individual nonmajo: fund financial st;lementg schedules of capital and non-capital

outlays, schedule of property taxes and the schedule of experd.tu=s of f:{eral awards are fairly stated, in all

material respects, in relation to the basic financbl statements rr a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auttiting Standwds
In accordance wiih GoveFnment Auditing Standards,we have also issued tur report dated September 21,2023 on

our consideration of the City of Caribou's internal control ov=r fir,ancial r=porting and on our tests of its

compliance with certain provisions of laws, reg:lations, contlrcts and gtarts and other matters, The purpose of
that ieport is to describe the scope of our testing of internal c,:ntrol over lnancial reporting and compliance and

the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on thx cffectiveness of the City of Caribou's internal

control over financial reporting or on compliance, That repor. is :r integral part of an audit performed in

accordance with Goveriment Auditing Standards in consideri:rg City of Gribou's internal control over financiai

reporting and compliance,

?ehl 6 Caru,p^V UC
September 21,2023

316



City of Caribou, l.dairs

Management's Discussirr and Ana pis
For the Year Ended Dece"rber 3t,2@2

UNAUDITED

The following narrative is an overview and discussion of the fhan,jal actiuities of the City of Caribou for the

financialyearending December 91,2022, Management's disc,rss on and analysis should be viewed as a toolto
aid the reader in understanding the City's financial performa-ce elong wi-h an enhanced insight to the attached

financial statements and notes to the financials.

Financial highliehts:

Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State anl Loral Govcrnments. Under these standards

management has prepared statements of comparison indicating .he relative changes within the City's

organizational and financial structures. Much of the ,letail as we I as the summary presented within this

text can be found in Exhibit D that high ights the end resutts of operations for the City in 2022,

infrastructure. Thisapproachincludes:heestablishmentof cordtionstatementsformuchoftheCity's
infrastructure and a plan of capital actions to maintah ard imp'we assets in accordance with prudent

financial practices as well as accounting for future needs.

The Financial Statements

The discussion and analysis is intended to provirie an introdu:tion to th: lity's basic financial statements, which

are comprised of three major components:

1) City-Wide Financial Statements, 2) Fund Financial Stateme-:s and 3) t$tes to the Financial Statements.

Supplementary information to the basic financial statements is ako prw ded to fulfill mandatory requirements

and clarification.

City-Wide Financial Statements

The City-wide financial statements present the financial pict- re cf the Ci-y from the economic resources

measurement focus using the accrual basis of accounting, similar n ma11er to private sector accounting

statements. These statements also include all assets of the rlity linclud rg infrastructure) as well as the liabilities

with certain interfuhd activities elim i nated.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on the G:y's assets rnd liabilities, with the difference

between the two reported as net position. The capital assels reported urder the non-current assets are based

upon historicalvalues less the total amount of depreciation acurulatec to date.

The Statement of Activities presents information demonstraling 'ow the City's net position changed during the

last calendar year on a department-by-department basis. A I :hanges in 1et position are reported as soon as the

activity occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash fl rw relevant to the event. Therefore, revenues and

expenses are reported in this statement for some items that rvillonly result in a change in cash in future fiscal

periods.

417



City of Caribou, Maine

Management's Discussirn and Aralysis
For the Year Ended Dec:mber 31,2C22

UNAUDITED

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements are a grouping of related accourts that are used to maintain control over the

resources that have been segregated through the budgetary process 'o' ;pecific activities or objectives. The City

of Caribou utilizes fund accounting practices to ensure compliance with f nance-related legal requirements as

well as performance measures to monitor activity throughout :he yee r, nll of the funds of the City can be

divided into two categories: governmentalfunds and fiducia"T funds.

The governmental funds define how money flows into and o,r.r: of tho;e f .rnds and the balances left at year-end,

These funds use modified accrual accounting to measure the cash and all other financial assets that can be

readily converted to cash. The governmental fund statements pnvide ,r Jetailed shorter-term view of the City's
general government operations and the basic services they prcvide. ,3c'rcrnmentalfund information aids in

determining whether there are more or fewer financial resoJrces that can be spent in the near future to finance

the City's programs and services. The differences in the governmental fmd statements and those of the City-

wide statements are defined in the reconciliation statements. The Ci:y is also utilizing non-major funds. These

funds are funded completely through special revenues and a'e not fmcied through general property tax dollars,

Notes to the financial statements are provided as additional informatior that is essential for the reader's full
understandingofthedataprovidedwithinthestatements, SchedulesarealsoincludeddetailingCapitaland
Non-capital Outlays, Property Taxes, and activity in Non-major Funds

The Statement of Net Position (Exhibit A) reports total net p,ls tic,n of 52 3,711.,892 from the operations of the

Governmentalactivity. This aggregate amount consists of totalassets le:s depreciation and liabilities and the
difference between deferred net inflows and outflows of resources. ixr bit A is delineated into Assets: Current

and Non-current, Deferred outflows of resources, Liabilities: Curent anc Non-current, Deferred inflows of
resources and Net Position: Net lnvestment in Capital Assets, lestricteJ and Unrestricted,

ThereadershouldrefertoTablelasacomparisonof ExhibitAofthenetchangesfrom202lto2022. Total

Current Assets increased by 51,079,735 in 2022. Capital Assets, net cf depreciation, decreased by $22,428.

Table I indicates Current Liabilities increased by $75,27I anc l.loncurrentLiabilities increased by $327,t42 due to
a change in the value of the net pension asset to a net pensiar liability, tlet Position increased by $1.,024,205 for
2422.

The reader should refer to Table ll as a comparison of the cha rges in Net Position from 202I lo 2022, Total City

Expenditures for Governmental activities were S15,45 4,778,as compare i to S15,655 ,367 for 2021 for an

increase of S788,811.

For 2022, the total General Revenues were 513,036,613 as comparec to i12,682,963 for 202I, an increase of

S3sg,gSO. Taxes increased by 5252,200 and excise tax decreasec by :pgoximately 551,000 and other revenues

decreased by about 53t0,000 while federaland state assistarce increased by about 5463,000.

518



Current Assets

Cash and temporary investments

Taxes receivable

Notes receivable

Other receivables

Other current assets

Noncurrent Assets

Net pension asset

Capital assets, net of depreciation

Total Assets

Deferred outflows of resources

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Deferred compensation

Current portion of capital leases payable

Noncurrent Liabilities

Capital leases payable, net of current portion

Net pension liability

Net OPEB liability

Total Liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources

Net Position

Net lnvestment in capital assets

Restricted for special revenue funds

Unrestricted

City of Caribou. Maine

Management's Discuss on and Analvsis

For the Year Ended Dece-nber 3L,2)22

UNAUDIT:D

Table I

Net Position

30,72 682 29,716,8t7

440,065 4r7,293

838,940

!70,rzL
493,645

99,903

763,669

L86,526

528,061

500,802

293,961

594,286

I,2t5 389 888 247

2,054,329 r,65L,916

394,526 794,507

t7,997,86r
458,806

9,231",020

$ 27,687,687

2022

5 t0,92s,423
978,699

4L,522
240,027

2t9,!56

12,404,827

18,315,855

18,315,855

1.91.,030

540,475
707,435

18,021,894

5L2,804

t0,t77,r94

2021

$ 9,655,292

969,029

206,667

31,3,578

L80,526

1r,325,092

53,442

1.8,338,283

18,391,725

Total Net Position

ilt

5 28,7tL,892

619



General Revenues

Taxes

Federal and state assistance

Excise taxes

Other revenues

Total general revenues

Prosram Revenues

Charges for services

Operating grants and contributions

Total revenues

Program Expenses

Generalgovernment
Public works

Police department
Fire and ambulance

Education

Caribou Housing Authority
Recreation

Economic development

County tax

Health and sanitation
lnsurance and retirement
Library

Other

Total program expenses

Change in Net Position

Net Position - January 1

City of Caribou, Ir'laine

Management's Discussicn and Analyeis

For the Year Ended Decerrber 37,2C22

UNAUDITE:

Table ll
Change in Net Pmition

13,036,613 t2,682,963

2022

$ 9,250,1.16

2,t05,4r5
7,574,702

1,06,380

2,387,9t5
2,053,855

202r

$ g,gg7,g16

I,642,901
1,625,809

4L6,337

2,556,58L

L,922,283

17,478,383 17 L6 827

t,226,638
2,777,05L

2,092,088

2,734,329

3,653,630
'J.,236,337

638,775
280,3L9

603,038

260,090

77,848
202,L7r

67t,864

t5,454,t78

840,970

2,098,05 L

2,015,962
2,836,359

3,67L,829
1,076,736

612,507

4t4,375
552,758

253,256
tt6,t62
2r5,195
got,2o7

15,665,367

\,024,205 1,496,460

27,687,68V 26,t91",227

7

Net Position - December 31

IV

$ 29,711,892 W

20



City of Caribou, Maine

Management's Discuss on and Anal'sis
For the Year Ended Dece'nber 31, /t)22

UNAUDITED

The reader may refer to Supplement 1 as the report comparhg the City': General Fund activity for the year as

compared to the budget. Total Expenditures for the year were S15,160,t32, 573,339 more than budgeted,
Revenues were S15,682,842,$SgE,lll more than budgeted. Revenues cxceeded Expenditures by $522,010 for
the year, Total Other Sources consists of capital outlays in excess of app'opriations of 530,+0S. The resulting
net increase in the General Fund Balance was 5485,605.

Please refer to Supplement 2 for a discussion of the Modified Approach lor City Capital Assets. The City has

established a condition level of 70%. For the years ended December 3L,2022,2021and 2020, the City's street
and sidewalk systems were rated at an index of 80. The City^s runway Syctem was rated at an index of 100 for
all years. The City had budgeted expenditures of 5513,851 in 2022 to ma intain infrastructure at the desired

condition level. Actual expenditures for 2022 were $610,446 from unasdgned fund balance with an additional

5266,993 from reserves. This compares to estimates of 5471,000 in 202 - and actual expenditures of 5473,256
from unassigned fund balance and $106,696 from reserves,

A more complete understanding of the capital outlay is summarized in Nrte 5 of this financial statement. Note 5

indicates that the City's capital assets, net of depreciation, de:reased W522,428, Depreciation expense of
5705,500 and net disposals of 581,659 were offset by additi:ns totaling 3764,731, Management recognizes that
the relationship of depreciation expense being less than net additions by 559,231 as one of timing as the
annualized rate of contribution supporting capital assets can be greater or less than a given year's replacements
or upgrades. Management does, however, recognize the trerrd over the past decade has been a positive input
greater than depreciation, an indication of prudent maintenance of the City's capital assets.

Long-term debt was decreased by 599,903 in the year ended Jecembe" 31,2022. The debt at year end consists
of one capital lease.

The City of Caribou continues to be fiscally strong, The City continues to maximize non-property tax revenue

sources to lower the overall burden on property taxation, ltlanagemert recognizes the future ciifficulties of
funding municipal operations as the State Revenue Sharing distributionscontinue to decline for the foreseeable
near term with potential increased burden upon property ta:<ation,

Management concludes this section of the 2022 Audit with :he continuel pledge of researching and applying

where possible economies of scale, regionalized services, bes: practices rnd efficiencies to minimize these
pending impacts. This concludes the Management Discussior and Anaty;is Statement for the 2022 calendar
year. A complete copy of the 2022 audited financials for the City of Caribou may be viewed at the Caribou City

Office, 25 High Street during normal business hours of 8:00AN{ to 5:00PtY Monday through Friday.

821



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Statement of Net losition
December 31,2022

Exhibit A

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and temporary investments (Note 2)

Uncollected taxes

Tax acquired property
Accounts receivable

Allowance for uncollectibles
Inventories

Notes receivable (Note 3)

Restricted cash (Note 4)

Other assets

NONCTIRRENT ASSETS

Capital assets (Note 5)

Non-depreciable
Depreciable, net of accumulated depreciation

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES (Note l)

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Accrued payroll
Escrow (trlote 4)

Compensated absences (Note l)
Cunent portion, capital leases payable

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Capital leases payable, net of current portion (Note 6)

Net pension liability - defined benefit plan (Note 7)

Net OPEB liability (Note 8)

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES (Note l)

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets

Restricted for:
Special revenue funds

Unrestricted

s10,925,423
85'.7,342

121,357

385,697
(145,670)

25,668
41,522

192,856
632

12,404,827

10,443,918
7 ,871,937

18,3 15,855

30,720,682

440,065

56,351

65,473

134,679

475,002
r07,435

186,526

528,061

500,802

215 389

2,054,329

394,526

18,021,894

512,804
10,177,194

838,940

9

Total net position

Tfu accompanying rwtu are an irutegrtt rcrt of tfik fntncia[ statanznt.

$ 28,7 n,892

22



CITY OF CARIBOI-, MAINE

Statement of Adivities
For the Year Ended D,ecxnber 31,2022

Expen-s

Program
Revenues

Operating

Charges for Grants and

Ser,rices Contributions Net (Cost)

$ 1,226,(.38

230:19
250{'90

2,777 {'51
2,012,t 88

2,734:29
77,f.48

57'l tt26
5rJ49

2')2,171
6,13,038

3,653,(30
2')7 j57

1,236:37
6,181

458.426

$ 187,581 $

3 _5,379

88,542
52,646

1,558,805

401,436

134,416
14,688

$ (1,039,057)

436,496
(260,090)

(2,554,093)
(2,024,754)
(1,075,524)

(7'7,848)

(559,932)

(27,177)
(198,275)
(603,038)

(3,653,630)

(207,257)
296,378

(6,181)
(458,426)

Exhibit B

8,604,396
(5 17,400)

1,163,120

1,574,',/02

2,105,415

ll,7 63

94,617

I 3,036,613

1,024,205
27 687 687

$ 28,711,892

Function/Programs

General government

Economic development

Health and sanitation
Public works
Police department

Fire and ambulance

Insurance and retirement

Recreation
Snowmobile trail maintenance

Library
County tax
Education
Tax assessment office
Section 8 Housing
Interest expense

Other

'_7,094

34,572

3,896

63,97'2 1,468,743

$ 16,454,178 $ 2,3t7,915 $ 2,053,855 (12,012,408)

General revenues:

Taxes
Property taxes, levied for general purpocer

Less: TIF payments
Homestead reimbursement and other pr,rpe:ty tax rellEd
Excise

Federal and state aid not restricted to specific purposes

Other licenses, permits and fees

Miscellaneous revenues

Subtotal, general revenues

CHANGE IN NET POSITION
NET POSITION - JANUARY I,2022

NET POSITION. DECEMBER 31,2022

'Ifie accompanying notu are an integrat prt of tfik frnanda[ statement, l023



CITY OF CAI{IBCI_, MAINE

Balance She:t
Governmental Funds

As of Decembzr 37,2022

Se':tion 8
Housing

Gensral F.:nd Plogram

Exhibit C

Total
Governmen.tal

Funds

Non-major
Funds

(Schedule 1)

ASSETS

Cash and temporary investments (Note 2)

Uncollected taxes

Tax acquired property

Accounts receivable

Allowance for uncollectibles

Inventories

Notes receivable (Note 3)

Restricted cash (Note 4)

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND FLIND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Escrow (Note 4)

Defened inflow of resources:

Deferred revenue (Note 1)

Fund balances:

Nonspendable

Inventory
Restricted

Special revenue funds

Unrestricted
Assigned

Capital (Schedule 3)

Non-capital (Schedule 4)

Other funds
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

$ 10,291 ,29 i $!3123t $ 1,676,25s $ 12,404,827

$ 39,168 $ 17,283

134,679-

151,962

$ $ 56,351

134,679

39 :68 191 030

712,:00 13,902 725,902

25,( 68 25,668

?it,4l'7 241,387 5 12,804

25i.:,19
4,8O2.296

1,434,868

4,45L 940

9,540 ?23 271,4r7 1,6'16,255 1 1,487,89!

$ i0,291 291 $ 137,281 S 1,616,255 821

$ 9,025,5)1
8:7,'i12
121,3i7
365,431

( 115.b70)

25.b58
11,522-

$?23,57'7-

20,216

192,85;
632

$ 1,676,255-

__--.-----:

s 10,925,423
85'1,342

121,357

385,697

{145,670)
25,668

41,522

192,856

632

25'.1,319

4,802,296
1,434,868

4,454,940

Ifre occompanying notu are an integral1art of tftis ftwntio[ statement.

$12

1l24



CITY OF CAzuBCI-, MATNE

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures md Chang=s in F'und Balance

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended Dec=mber 31,2022

General Firnd

Section 8

Housing
Prosram

Non-major
Funds

(S:chedule 2)

Exhibit D

Total
Governmental

Funds

REVENUES
Local property taxes

Homestead reimbursement

Abatements

Other property tax related

Excise taxes

Federal and state assistance

Fire and ambulance revenue

Other licenses, permits and fees

Other revenues

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
General government

Economic development

Health and sanitation

Public works
Police department

Fire and ambulance

Insurance and retirement
Recreation

Library
County tax

Tax assessment office
General assistance

Education
Tax increment financing

Debt service - principal
- interest

Other

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

Net Increase in Fund Balance

Fund Balance - January 1,2022

Fund Balance - December 31,2022

$ 8,518,37t
835,68:
(10,?o;l
327,434

1,574,102

2,254,51;
1,658,80:

340,06;
187,58:

260,09i
2,791.,55:

2,068,0',7:

2,699,85-i
77,841.

7 4',7 ,05'r
196,31'-

603,03[
207,25:
73,126

3,653,63(l
517,4m

99,90:.
13,27:

$$

1,468,743 541,146

65,'736

323.55t

$ 8,5 18,371

835,682

( 10,702)

327,438

r,574,702
4,264,448
1,65 8,805

405,803

15, 686,46!

ca5,949_

1,5:4,692

1,020,05j 2t-6,052

930,433 18, 151,589

57'7 082

1,236,337

280,319

61,749

1,266,106

280,3 19

260,090
2,791,555
2,068,0'15

2,699,850

7',7,848

808,799

196,314

603,038

20'7,257

r,309,463
3,653,630

5n,40a
99,903

13,272
1,72 3y l71,265 343 662

15,200,359 1,4 82,389 513 333 171196'581_

485,505

9,054 ,51e

$ 9,540,223

52,303

219,l14

417,100

1.259,155

955,008

10,532,887

$ 27t,49 $ J,675_U1 $ I 1,487,895

Ifie accompanying notes are an tntegrat 2art of tfiis finnrcia[ statement' 1225



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Reconciliation of the Governrnental Funds Balance Sheet

with the Statement ofl.let Position

December -iI.;022

s 29,229,577
(10,913,722)

(293,961)
(65,473)

(528,061)

(500,802)
(47 5,002)

Exhibit E

$ I 1,487,895

18,315,855

440,065

725902

(394,526)

(1,863,299)

$ 28,7fi,892

Total fund balance'governmental funds (Exhibit C)

Amounts reported for governmentalactivities in the stateme---t of net pmition
are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources

and, therefore, are not reported as assets in governmental irnds:

The cost of capital assets is

Accumulated depreciation is

Defened outflows in governmental activities are not financ al resources and,

therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Defened outflows of resources

Property taxes receivable will be collected this year, but are not available

soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures anJ, therefore,

are deferred in the funds:

Defened revenue

Defened inflows in governmental activities are not due and payable irom
current financial resources and, therefore, are not reporled in the funds:

Defened inflow of resources

Certain liabilities are not due and payable from current financial rescurces

and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Notes payable

Accrued payroll
Net pension asset (liability)
Net OPEB liability
Compensated absences

Total net position - governmental activities (Exhibit A)

tfie accompanying rctu are an intqrat part of this rtnandaf statemcnt, 1326



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Ststement of Revenues, Expenditures

and Changes in Fund Balances with the C:ty-Wide Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended Deoember 31,2022

$ 764,731
(705,500)

Exhibit F

$ 955,008

59,231

(81,659)

(31,755)

95,000

1,',12',7

99,903

( 1 5,075)
7,091

(581,503)

93,484
422,753

$ 1,024,205

Total net change in fund balances - governmental funds (Exhibit D)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statenent of Activities are

different because:

Capital outlays to purchase or build capital assets are report=d in governmental funds

as expenditures. However, for governmental activities thcse costs are shown in the

statement of net position and allocated over their estimated rseful lives as annual

depreciation expense in the statement of activities. This is flre amourt by which
capital outlays exceeded depreciation expense.

Capital outlays

Depreciation expense

In the statement of activities, only the gain on the sale of fued assets is reported,

whereas in the governmental funds, the entire proceeds fron the sale increases

financial resources. Therefore, the change in net position d-ffers from the change

in fund balance by the depreciated value of disposed asseF.

Compensation for accrued vacation and sick pay not yet p=-id is accumulated using the

governmental activities fund to the extent that amounts would be paid to the employees

upon retirement. These funds are not accumulated for t,re governmental activities fund.

Some revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in governmental fu:-ds:

Increase in defened property tax re'/:nue
Increase in other defened revenue

Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the

repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement ol net position,

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do r-,rt require the use of cunent

financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as e>:perditures ir govemmental

funds:

(Increase) in accrued payroll
Decrease in accrued interest
(Increase) in deferred pension liabi-rty
Decrease in defened OPEB liabiliqi
Change in defened inflowsioutflo$'s of resources

Change in net position of governmental activities (Exhibit E)

'Lfu accompanying notu are an integrtt rcrt of tfi* fnnndn{ statenwnt. l427



CITY OF CARIBOI-, MATNE

Statement of Fiduciary Net Posit:on
December 31,2022

TsEl

Cemetery

Trust
Funds

Cemetery

Trust
FUnds

Library
Trust
Funds

Library
Trust
Funds

Exhibit G

Memorial
Funds

Memorial
Funds

ASSETS

Cash

NET POSITION
Undesignated

$.sr.J30 $ 1,051 $49,937 $ 104,842

$,s:J30 $ 1,q:! $48,837 $ 104,842

CITY OF CARIBGLI, MAINE.

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the Year Ended Decanber 31,2022

TsEl

REVENUE
Interest income $ lJ63 $ 2 $ 830 431

DEDUCTIONS
Expenses 5,374 30 4,344 2,000

NET CHANGE IN NET POSITION (5,1 I 1) (28) (3,514) (1,569)

NET POSITION . JANUARY 1 I5t,841 1,079 52,351 106 ll

CASH AND NET POSITION - DECEMBER 3I $ 15.,730 $ 1,05 I $ 48,837 $ 104,842

Ifie accompanyitrg rwtu are an integret prt of tfris frnnrrcia[ statement, 1528



CITY OI.- CARIBOIJ. MATNE

Notes to the Financial StatemenB
December 31,2)22

(I) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOLINTING PCTICIES

The City of Caribou, Maine incorporated and adopted its first charter in 1967 , which allows for a

Council-Manager form of government. The Councll consists of seven members elected by the voters with
individual terms of three years.

The financial statements of the City have been pre:ared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles as applied to governmental unix, The authority establishing the standards for
governmental accounting principles is the Governmental Accourting Standards Board (GASB).

The accompanying financial statements include all governmental and expendable fiduciary fund types
and account groups except for Cary Medical Center and Caribou Utilities District. The financial
statements of these component units have been or are :eing audited and reported on by other independent
auditors.

The City of Caribou's basic financial statements irrclude City-wide statements, including a statement of
net position and a statement of activities, and fund tjnarcial staternents that provide a more detailed level
of fi nancial information,

City-wide Financial Statements - The statement of net positioa and the statement of activities display
information about the City as a whole, These statemels include the financial activities of the primary
government, except for fiduciary funds.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental activities of the City
at year-end. The statement of activities presents a comrarison between direct expenses ancl program
revenues for each department or function of the City'; governmental activities, Direct expenses are those
that are specifically associated with a service or deparment and, therefore, clearly identifiable to a
particular function. Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient for the goods or services
offered by the department, grants and contributions ttai are restr-cted to meeting the operational or capital
requirements of a particular department and interes: eamed on grants that is required to be used to support
a particular department. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues are presented as general
revenues of the City, with certain limited exceptions. The comparison of direct expenses with program
revenues identifies the extent to which each governm:ntal functirn is self-financing or draws from the
generalrevenue of the City. The effect of significant -nterfund activity has been eliminated from the
government-wide financial statements.

Fund Financial Statements - During the year, the Ci:y segregates transactions related to certain City
functions or activities in separate funds in order to aid r-rnancial management and to demonstrate legal
compliance. Fund financial statements are designed to present financial information of the City at this
more detailed level,

Fund Accounting
The accounts of the City are organized on the basi: af funds,:ach of which.is considered a separate

accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by a sep.lrate set cf self-balancing accounts that comprise
its assets and account for the governmentai resourc:s allocated to them for the purpose of carrying on
specific activities in accordance with laws, regulati'rns or other r:strictions. The various funds are

summarized by type in the financial statements.

The focus of governmentalfund financial statements is on the major funds. Each major fund is
presented in a separate column and non-maior funds ar: summarized into a single column, GASB
standards set forth minimum criteria based on the size of the funJs for the determination of major funds.

City management may also choose to designate additlmal funds as major based on other criteria. The

following funds are reported as major by the City:

l629



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Notes to the Financiai Statemenls
December 31,2f22

(1) SUMMARY OF $IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTNG PCILICIES (Continued)

Fund Accounting (Continued)

General Fund - The general fund accounts for financial resou:ces in use for general types of
operations. This is a budgeted fund, and any fund halances are considered as resources available for
use. Revenues are derived primarily from property and other local taxes, state and federal
distributions, licenses, permits, charges for services and interest income. A significant part of the

General Fund's revenues are used principaiiy to finance the operations of the City of Caribou,

Special Revenue Fund - The Section 8 Housing Ptogram accounts for grant proceeds that are

restricted by legaland regulatory provisions to fin:nce the ac:ivities of the Caribou Housing
Authority.

Custodial Funds - The City's custodial funds accourrt for tnrst funds donated to the City that are

fiduciary in nature.

Measurement Focus

City-wide Financial Statements - The City-wide finrncial stalements are prepared using the

economic resources measurement focus. All assels and liabilities associated with the operation of the

City are included in the statement of net position.

Fund Financialstatements - All governmental fundl are accsunted for using a flow of current financial
resources measurement focus. With this measurem:nt focus, only current assets and cunent liabilities
generally are included on the balance sheet. The s:atement o-'revenues, expenditures and changes in

fund balances reports on the sources (i.e., reven:es. and other financing sources) and uses (i.e.,

expenditures and other financing uses) of cunent:'inancial resources. This approach diff'ers from the

manner in which the governmental activities of th: City-wide financial statements are prepared.

Governmental fund financial statements, therefore. include a reconciliation with brief explanations to

better identify the relationship between the City-wide statements and the statements for governmental

funds.

Basis of Accountine
The basis of accounting determines when transacticns are recorded in the financial records and

reported on the financial statements, City-wide finar-c.al statem:nts and the fiduciary funds are prepared

using the accrual basis ofaccounting.

Governmental funds use the modified accrual bas-r of accounting. On the accrual basis of accounting,

expenses are recognized at the time they are incunrd. Differences in the accrual and the modified accrual

basis ofaccounting arise in the recognition ofreve:rue and in the presentation ofexpenses versus

expenditures.

Revenues resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially

equal value, are recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange takes place, On a modified accrual

basis, revenue is recorded in the fiscal year in which tt-e resourcas are measurable and become available,

Available means that the resources will be collected within the cunent fiscal year or are expected to be

collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay lia:ilities of the current year. For the City, available

means expected to be received within 60 days of fiscal year-end" Licenses and permits, charges for

services, fines and forfeits and miscelianeous revenu=t are recorded as revenues when received in cash.

General property taxes, self-assessed taxes and investrrent earnings are recorded when they become both

measurable and available, Expenditures are recognizd in the accounting period in which the flrnd
liability is incuned, if measurable, except for expenditures for debt service, prepaid expenses and other

long-term obligations, which are recognized when paid'

1130



CITY OF CARIBO{J, MAINE

Notes to the Financia- Statemen:s
December 31,2022

(l) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOLINTIjG POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of Accountine (Continued)
Nonexchange transactions, in that the City receives value without directly giving equal value in return,

include property taxes, grants, entitlements and donar-ons. Revenue from property taxes is recognized in

the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue from grarts, entitiements and donations is

recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility reluirements have been satisfied, Eligibility
requirements include timing requirements, which spec-fy the year when the resources are required to be

used or the year when use is first permitted, matching requirements, in which the City must provide local

resources to be used for a specified purpose, and exp:ndifure requirements, in which the resources are

provided to the City on a reimbursement basis. On the modified accrual basis, revenue from nonexchange

transactions must also be available before it can be rerrgnized.

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources

(expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generallyrecognized in the accounting period in

which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurltrle. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and

amortization, are not recognized in governmental fur-'ls.

Encumbrances represent commitments related tr unperformed contracts for goods or services,

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase o:ders, contracts and other commitments for the

expenditure of resources are recorded to reserve that p:rtion of fund balance, is utilized in the

governmental fund types. In the general fund, for ludletary purposes, appropriations lapse at fiscal year-

end except for that portion related to encumbered amornts. Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are

reported as reservations of fund balance and do not corstitute er-penditures or liabilities because the

commitments will be honored during the subsequent y"ar. The encumbrances are subject to re-

appropriation by the City councii in any succeeding :-iscal year.

Budgetary Data
Formal budgetary accounting is empioyed as a rlaragement lontrol for all funds of the City. Annual

operating budgets are adopted each year through pesiege of an annual budget ordinance and amended as

required for the General Fund. In accordance rvith g=nerally accepted accounting principles, these

budgets use the same accounting basis to reflect acttnl revenues and expenditures. Budgets for the

Special Revenue Funds are made on a project basis, x,metimes spanning over more than one fiscal year,

Budgetary control is exercised at the departmental lerrel or by project. All unencumbered budget

appropriations, except reserve budgets, lapse at the eod ofeach hscal year,

The general operating fund is legally required to be budgetec and appropriated. The major document

prepared is the tax budget, which separates these f:nd; by function and estimated appropriation needed to

fund each function. The tax budget demonstrates 4 ri=d for existing or increased tax rates. This budget

is approved by the City Council and may be amendeJ during the year if projected increases or decreases

in revenues or expenditures are identified by the City. The amounts reported as the original budget

amounts in the budgetary statements (Supplement 1) r:flect the amounts in the legally adopted budget.

Changes, if any, are reflected in the final budget colunn.

Cash and Temporary Investments
Available cash is deposited in interest-bearing acccunts to as great a degree as possible. These

residual investments are classified for reporting pLrF'xes as cash. Earnings fi'om these investments are

reported by the applicable funds. The City's policy is to invest in regional banks and federal securities

and to insure the funds to as gfeat a degree as possible. Deposits with a marurity of three months or less

are included in cash and temporary investments for financial reporting purposes.

Monies for all funds are maintained in a pool. Inrividual funds are maintained through the City's

accounting records to allow proper segregation of cash for each fund.

1831



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Notes to the Financia- Statemen:s
December 31,2022

(l) SUMMARY O.F SIGNIFICANT ACCOLINTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property Taxes
Taxes are levied as of April I and are used to fina:ce the opelations of the City for the calendar budget

year beginning January 1 Taxes are committed fo: collection on July 1 and are due and pavable on or
before September 30. In accordance with Maine law, taxes not collected within eight months following
the date of commitment are secured by liens.

The City has adopted the standard established by G-A.SB No, 33 regarding the recognition of property

taxes. The criterion for this standard is to recogniz: property ta>: revenue as it becomes both "measurable
and available". Measurable is dehned as the amount that the City can reasonably expect to receive of the
property taxes assessed for the current year. Available is defined as the amount that will be collected of
current and past due taxes during the current period cr expected to be collected shortly thereafter to pay
current liabilities. For the purposes of this report, 60 '1ays is used as the collection period after year-end,

Accordingly, a deferred inflow has been establishe,l srr the fund balance sheet for the taxes considered
collectible but not available for current liabilities,

Allowance for Uncollectible Receivables
Taxes receivable are recorded at estimated net r:alizable value, Therefore, an allowance for

uncollectible taxes of $20,670 has been established, Tax revenrx is recorded net of the allowance for
uncollectible taxes.

The ambulance service also reports accounts receivable net of the allowance for uncollectible accounts

of $125,000. Revenues have been netted to reflect the allowance,

Inventories
The City of Caribou inventories are valued at cost. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis.

Capital Assets
General capital assets generally result from expenditures in the govemmental funds. These assets are

reported in the governmental activities column of the City-wide statement of net position but are not

reported in the fund financial statements.

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estirrated historical cost) and updated for additions and

retirements during the year, Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value as of the date

received. The City maintains a capitalization thresho-d of $3,000 for all assets other than infrastructure

assets. The capitalizationthreshold for infrastructur€ assets is $50,000. Improvements are capitalized;
the costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do n:t add to the value of the asset or materially extend

asset lives are not capitalized. Capital assets are dep::ciated using the straight-line method over the

following useful lives:
Go'"emmental Business-type

pescription #Hfi* r,,ffilJl';L
Buildings and Improvements 2C-50 years N/A
Furniture and Equipment 5-20 years 10-15 years

Vehicles 8- r0 years N/A

Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 34, an extended period of defenal (until 2006) was available before
the requirement to record and depreciate infrastructurc assets (e.g, roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar
items) acquired before the implementation date beca:re effectiv:, The City developed an implementation
to determine the value of and included infrastructrue';cst in 2006, Infrastructure acquired prior to
December 2002 has not been recorde<i. GASB Staterrent No. 34 requires the reporting of new
infrastructure expenditures effective with the beginn-rg of the implementation year (2A02).

The City has elected to account for their infrasFu,:ture assets using the modified approach as opposed

to depreciating them, See Supplement 2 for furthff details.

l932



CITY OF CARIBOJ. MAINE

Notes to the Firranc.ial Statements
December 31, n22

(l) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOLINTING POLICIES (Continued)

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position may report a separate section for defened

outflows of resources. This represents a consumption of net position that applies to future periods and so

will not be recognized as an outflow of resources urtil then. The City currently reports only other post-

employment benefit (OPEB) and pension-related iterns as defened outflows of resources,

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial pesition may report a separate section for defened

inflows of resources. This represents an acquisition c'f net position that applies to future periods and so

will not be recognized as an inflow of resources un;il :hen. The City currently reports only OPEB and

pension-related items as defened inflows of resources:n the Statement of Net Position. The City also

reports defened property taxes in the general fund as dafened inflows on the fund balance sheet,

Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Lone-term Obligations
All payables, accrued liabilities and longterm obligations are reported in the City-wide financial

statements,

Compensated Absences
City employees are entitled to certain compensalei lbsences based on their length of employment and

their department's individual contract negotiated wrth tre City. Administration and all other employees
not under a departmental contract receive twelve days sick leave per year and one to five weeks of
vacation depending on the number of years of service . Unused vacation and sick pay are accumulated at

the employee's current rate of pay and is included as a .iability in the net position of the City-wide
financial statements.

Net Position
Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities. Net investment in capital assets

consists ofcapital assets, net ofaccumulated deprecialion, reduced by the outstanding balances ofany
bonowings used for the acquisition, construction, or .aprovement of those assets. Net position is

reported as restricted when there are limitations imrosed on use either through the enabling legislation
adopted by the City or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations

of other governments.

Fund Balance Classifi cations
In the fund financial statements, governmental fur,ls report the following classifications of fund

balance:

Nonspendable Fund Balance
Nonspendable fund balance includes amo;nts that are not spendable in form or are

contractually required to be maintained intact. T'he City reports fuel inventory as nonspendable.

Restricted Fund Balance
Restricted fund balance includes amour:ts:hat can only be used for specific purposes and

includes grant funds and certain donations.

Unrestricted Assigned Fund Balance
Unrestricted assigned fund balance incl.rdes amounts assigned by the authority of the City

Council for which they intend to use them ftx specific purposes. Any assignments held open for

three years without activity is closed into unreitricted unassigned fund balance.

Unrestricted Unassiened Fund Balance
The remaining fund balance that is not res:ricted, committed or assigned is considered

unassigned, These funds are spendable fund: in the ordinary course of government operations.

2033



CITY OF CARIEOU, MAINE

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31,2022

(1) SI"IMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCO1JNTING PCLICIES (Continued)

Fund Balance Classifications (Continued)
The City considers expenditures that are incurred fcr purposes where restricted and unrestricted fund

balances are available, to be expended in the follovring order - Restricted, Committed, Assigned and

Unassigned, In the 2022 fiscal year there were no unrestricted committed funds,

Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in confcrmity with generally accepted accounting principles

requires management to make estimates and assumpticns that affect certain reported amounts and

disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ fr:m those estimates.

(2) CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS

Deposits with financial institutions are subject tc custodial risk, which is the risk that in the event of a

bank failure, the City's deposits may not be returned to it. The City's policy is to invest in regional banks

and to insure the funds to as great a degree as poss:ble As of December 31, 2022,the bank balance,

including the various fiduciary accounts, was $l1,822$34 allof which was fully insured or collateralized,

The above information does not include any amounts on deposit for Cary Medical Center or Caribou

Utilities District.

(3) NOTES RECEIVABLE

The City's General Fund had a 2%o note receivable in annual installments of $7,365 principal and

interest through December 2028 with a baiance of $41,522 as of December 31 ,2022.

The note receivable of $41,522 is rvith the Caribou Economic Growth Council which has made various

loans under the same terms noted above. These nctes lre secured by the applicable notes held by the

Caribou Economic Growth Council.

As of December 31, 2022,the note receivable matures as follows:

,\mount

$ 6,540
6,6'l I
6,804
6,940
7,079
'7.488

*4Ji22

The City operates a Voucher Program (HCV) whicr enables up to one hundred ninety-three recipients

to be granted housing assistance under the Section 8 liousing Program but does not restrict their living to
the Caribou area. In addition, to the HCV program. the Caribou Housing Authority has a Mainstream

Voucher Program for up to forty participants and an Emergency Housing Voucher Program for up to

fifteen participants to receive housing assistatrce,

The Section 8 Program has a family self-sufficienc/ program that permits families to stay in the

program even if their income increases. This increase in payments is collected by the program and

deposited into an escrow account for the families inv,fved to use upon their successful completion of the

program. This money is listed as restricted cash in the balance sheet of the special revenue fund,

Year

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028

2t34



CITY OF CARIBOU. MAINE

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31,'n22

(s) CAPITAL ASSETS

In accordance with GASB standards, the City has reported all capital assets including infrastructure in
the Governrnent-wide Statement of Net Position. The City elected to use the "modified approach" as

defined by GASB for infrastructure reporting. As a rezult, no accumulated depreciation or depreciation

expense has been recorded for infrastructure, Othe: nrtdepreciable assets include land and construction
in progress, All other capital assets were reported usin3 the basic approach whereby accumulated

depreciation and depreciation expense has been recorded.

Capitalasset activity for the year ended DecemL,er 3I,2022, was as follows:

Beginnirg Retirements/ Ending
Balan:a Additions Transfers Balance

Governmental Activities

Nondepreciable:
Land
Infrastructure

Total nondepreciable

Land improvements
Buildings
Vehicles
Equipment

Totals at historical cost

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements
Buildings
Vehicles
Equipment

Total accumulated depreciation

$

Governmental activities capital assets, net $18-33&?33 $-59.ru

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows:

Governmental Activities
General
Library
Police
Fire and Ambulance
Public works
Recreation and parks
Airport
Other

$ s29.;00
9.914.: l8

I 0,443.9 I 8

1,371.638
8,028.a06
5,303.671
3.623 626

28.nr.259

1,162, -03
3,ffi4,307
4,293,372
1.893.?94

t0.432.976

279,153
55,346

430.232

764.731

18,848
208,525
259,415
2t8.712

705.s00

$ 72,536
5,857

50,490
284,859
106,93 I
143, I 89
38,768
2.870

$705lqQ

t06,425
199.988

306.413

103,095
t21.659

))a 1sA

$:!$59

$ 529,700
9"9 r4.218

10,443,9 i 8

I,371 ,63 8

8,307,559
5,252,592
3.8s3.870

29.229.577

1,180,95 1

3,292,732
4,449,692
t.990.347

t0.913.722

$18311-855

$

7)35



CITY OF CARIBDU. MAINE

Notes to the Financial Statements

December 37,2022

(6) GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT

As of December 3 1, 2022,long-term debt consisted of a 3.59lYo capital lease payable in semi-annual

payments ranging from $44,205 to $61,565 principal and interest through June 2025. The lease had a

balance due of $293,961 at December 31,2A22.

Long-term debt activity during the year ended Decamber 31,2022, was as follows:

Balance Balance

January 1, December

2022 Additions Reductions 31"2022

Governmental Activities

Capital Lease Payable $393-&64 $'----- $99.903 $293PCI

As of December 31, 2022,long-term obligations rr-ature as follows:

Fiscal
Year Irtsipel Interest

2023 (included in cunent liabilities) $107,435 $ 9,618

2024 115,390 5,690

2025 71.136 1.472

s107*415

s29Jt0t $16.7!0

(7) EMPLOYEES'RETIREMENTPLAN

MAINEPERS

Plan Description
The City contributes to the Maine Pubiic Emplcye*s Retirement System (MainePERS) which is a

multiple-employer cost sharing defined benefit persion plan as a Participating Local District (PLD).

Eligible employers are defined in Maine statute, As of June 30,2022, there were 311 employers in the

plan. As of June 30,2022, the City had26 employees enrolled in the plan'

Pension Benefits
Benefit terms are established in Maine statute ard an advisory group, also established by statute'

reviews the terms of the plan and periodically mabs recommendations to the Legislature to amend the

terms. The plan provides defined benefits based on members' average final compensation and service

credit earned as of retirement. Vesting occurs upor th: earning of five years of service credit. For PLD

members, normalretirement age is 60 (if the memberparticipated in the plan on or before.lune 30, 2014)

or 65 (for members added to the plan beginning July 1, 2014). Members are eligible for retirement after

twenty-five years of service; or upon reaching norma- retirement age of 60 or 65, whether or not they are

in service, provided they are vested with 5 or 10 years of service, whichever applies to them; or upon

reaching their normal retirement age of 60 or 65, prov-ded they have been in service for at least one year

immediately prior to retirement. The monthly ben:fi: of members who retire before normal retirement

age by having at least 25 years ofservice uedit is:educed by a statutorily prescribed factor for each year

of age that a member is below the normal retirement age at retirement. MainePERS also provides

disability and death benefits which are established by :ontract with other participating empioyers under

applicable statutory provisions,

Upon termination of membership, members'accululated employee contributions are refundable with

interist (annual rate is currently |,52yo), credited in accordance with statute. Withdrawal of accumulated

contributions results in forfeiture of all benefits and rrmbership rights,

Due
Within

One Year

'r7^36



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31,2022

(7) EMPLOYEES'RETIREMENTPLAN(Continuedl

Pension Benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefits are funded by contributions from members and employers and by earnings on

investments. Disability and death benefits are funced by employer normal cost contributions and by

investment earnings, Member and employer contribu:ion rates are each a percentage of applicable

member compensation. Member contribution rates are defined by law or the System's Board rule, The

City's participants contributed 8% of their wages to the plan, The City's contribution rate is determined

through actuarial valuations.

Pension Liabilities. Pension Expense" Deferred Ourflows of Resources. and Deferred Inflows of
Resources

At December 31,2022, the City reported a liabitity of $528,061 for its proportionate share of the net

pension liability, The net pension liability was measured as of June 30,2022, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability vras determined by an acfuarial valuation as of that date,

The City's proportion of the net pension liability was Lased on a projection of the City's long-term share

of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating entities,

actuarially determined. At June 30,2022, the City s proportion was ,1986%, which was an increase of
.00323% from its proportion as measured as of Jurp J0,2021.

For the year ended December 31,2022, the City recognized pension expense of $178,407. At
December 31,2022, the City reported deferred out:lo'"r's of resources and deferred inflows of resources

related to pensions from the following sources:
De fened Outflows Deferred Inflows

. ofResources ofResources

Differences between expected and actual results $ 98,137 $

Net difference between projected and actual
investment earnings on pension plan investments - 221,630

Changes of assumptions 107,178

Changes in proportion and differences between
employer contributions and proportionate share
of contributions 62.981 ----------:

Total $258295 $22L630

Amounts reported as defened outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be

recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year Ending
June 30" Amount

2023 $ 99,445
2024 (19,186)
2025 (137,689)
2026 104,096

2437



CITY OF CARIEOU, MAINE

Notes to the Financial Statements
December ?1,2.022

(7) EMPLOYEES'BETIREMENTPLAN(Continuedt

Actuarial Assumotions
The total pension liability in the June 30,2022 actulrial valuation was determined using the following

actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods includ:d jr the measurement:

Salary increases 2.75% - 11.48%

Inflation rate 2.75%

Investment rate of refurn 6.5V0 per annum, compounded annually

Cost of living benefit increases Lgi%

Mortality rates were based on the 2010 Public Flan General Benefits-Weighted Healthy Retiree
Mortality Table, for males and females, projected generationaliy using RPEC_2020 model.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected refurns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major class of assets. These

ranges are combined to produce the long-term expectel rate of return by weighting the expected future
real rates ofretum by the target asset allocation pe:ce(tage and by adding expected inflation. Best
estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each ma or asset class included in the pension plan's target
asset allocation as of June 30,2022 are summarizeJ irthe following table. Assets for each of the defined
benefits plan are commingled for investment purpc'sej

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the collective persion liability was 6,5Y0 for 2022. The projection

of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assLn'red that plan member contributions will be made at

the cunent contribution rate and that employer cortrib.rtions willbe made at contractually required rates,

actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, tre pension plan's fiduciary net position was
projected to be available to make all projected futtne benefit payments to the current plan members.

Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

The following table shows how the collective n:t p:nsion iiability/(asset) as of June 30,2022 would
change if the discount rate used was one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the

current rate.

I lolo D".rrur" t.!l,Trlt". rolo rncrease

5.5% 65% 7:5,o/o

$ 1,560,041 5528,061 $(324,908)

All other employees are covered under the Social Security System.

MainePERS issues a publicly available financial r:port that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information that may be obtained on the Internet at www.mainepers.org or at the

MainePERS office in Augusta.

2538



CITY OF CARIEOU, MAINE

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 11,2422

(7) EMPLOYEES'RETIREMENTPLAN(Continued)

Deferred Compensation Plan
The City has established for its employees a defened compensation plan in accordance with Internal

Revenue Code Section 457. The plan permits employees to defer a portion of their salaries until future
years. The deferred compensation amount is not available to the employees until termination, retirement
or death.

Plan benefits depend solely on amounts contributei to the plan plus investment earnings, less

administrative expenses, For those qualified personne- who elect to participate, contribution rates depend
on individual contracts and a portion of which is matched by the employer. Employees may elect to make
member contributions,

(8) OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFTT (OPEB)

Plan Description - Maine Municipal Employees H:altr Trust
The City of Caribou, Maine participates in the Ma:ne Municipal Employees Health Trust (MMEHT) in

which retirees and spouses may participate in grou: health insurance through a single employer defined
benefit OPEB plan. The employee must meet certain age and length of service requirements in order to
be eligible for post-retirement benefits.

Benefits
The non-Medicare retirees are offered the same rlm.s that are available to the active employees.

Medicare retirees are assumed to be enrolled in Medicare Parts A and B and the Retiree Group
Companion Plan which includes prescription coverage Medical benefits are provided for the life of the
retiree and surviving spouses. Cunent retirees do not have access to dental benefits. Future new retirees
who retire after December 3 1, 2016 will have access lo purchase dental coverage at the Plan COBRA
(Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act) rates,

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

At January 1,2022, the following were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries curren:ly receiving benefits 2

Inactive employees entitled to, but not yet receiving, benefits

Active employees 51

Total 53

Discount Rate
Since the Plan is pay as you go and is not funded, :he discount rate will be based on a 2O-year, tax-

exempt general obligation municipal bond index and is 2.06% as of December 3 1, 2021 . The discount
rate as of Decembei 3l , 2020 was 2, 12%o per annum.

The following table shows how the net MMEHT OPEB liability as of December 3 l, 2021 would
change if the discount rate used was one percentag: pc,int lower or one percentage point higher than the
current rate.

lolo Decrease
t.06%

$602,382

Current
Discount Rate

2.06%

$500,802

1olo Increase
3.06%

$419,331

2639



CITY OF CARIBOU. MAINE

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31,2022

(8) OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT (OPEB) (Continued)

Healthcare Trend
The healthcare trend is the assumed dollar increase:n dollar-related values in the future due to the

increase in the cost of health care as a result of factors such as medical inflation, utilization of healthcare
services, plan design, and technological developments, Lower healthcare trend rates produce a lower
totalOPEB liability,

Healthcare Cost
l0lo Decrease Trend Rates 1% Increase-

$41 1,179 $500,802 $619,143

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
The collective total OPEB liability for the Plan was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January

1,2022, using the following methods and assumptions apply to all periods included in the measurement:

The Entry Age Normal Actuarial Cost Method t,r value the plan's actuarial liabilities and to set the
normal cost. Under this method, a normal cost rate is determined as a level percent of pay for each active
plan member and then summed to produce the total normal cost for the plan. The unfunded actuarial
liability and the actuarial value of assets.

Trend Assumptions
The Society of Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend Model and its baseline projection are based

on an econometric analysis of historical U,S, medical expenditures and the judgements of experts in the
field.

Future Plan Chanses
It is assumed that the current Plan and cost-sharing structure remains in place for all future years.

OPEB Liabilities. Expense. Deferred Outflows of F:escurc.es. and Deferred Inflows of Resources
At December 31,2022, the City reported a liability rf $500,802 for its net MMEHT liability, The net

OPEB liability. was measured as of January 1, 2022, atd the total liability used to calculate the net
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation ar of that date,

At December 31,2022,the City reported defened o;tflows of resources and defenecl inflows of
resources related to the Plan from the following sources:

Defened Outflows Defened Inflows
cf P.eso.urces of Resources

Differences between expected
and actual results

Changes of assumptions

Total

$ 13,684

158.085

$t_zlJ69

$147,502

25,394

$112-89-6

2140



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 3I,2022

(8) OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT (OPEB) (Continued)

OPEB Liabilities. Expense. Defened Outflows ojFlescurces. and Defened Inflows of Resources

(Continued)
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resou:ces and deferred (inflows) of resources will be

recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year
Ending

December 31. Amounts

2023 $ 7,305
2024 ',7,305

2025 7,305
2026 7,310
2027 (3,038)

Thereafter {27,314)

Chanee in net OPEB Liability

Balance at December 31,2021 $ 594.286

Changes for the year:

Service cost 28,801

Interest 13,146
Changes ofbenefits
Differences between

expected and actual (133,002)
Changes of assumptions 3,609
Benefit payments/

Employer contributions (6.038)

Net changes (93.484)

Balance at December 31,2022 $-500802

(9) JOINT VENTURE _ AROOSTOOK WASTE SOLUTIQNS

The Aroostook Waste Solutions is owned jointly b;' the Towns of Fort Fairfield and Limestone plus

the Cities of Caribou and Presque Isle. The Board of Directors consists of ten members residing in the

four communities.

Financial statements for this joint venture were issued and reported on by us in a separate report dated

May 10, 2023, These financial statements are availaL.le from the City's Finance Department.

A summary of the facility's activity for 2022, is as follows:

A!qu!
Total assets $21,149,945
Deferred outflows of resources 97 ,937
Total liabilities 18,820,930

Deferred inflows of resources

Total net position

Total revenue

Less total expenditures

Decrease in net position

r20.666

$9J62!5
$ 4,024,848

4.750.1 14

$_.(72s-266)
2B41



CITY OF CARIBOU, MATNE

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31,'n22

(9) JOINT VENTURE - AROOSTOOK WASTE SOLUTIONS (Continued)

The City has guaranteed, together with the other manber communities, three notes payable. As of
December 31,2022, the totalbalance owed was $5.763,889.

The State of Maine Department of Environment.ll Protection requires that Aroostook Waste Solutions
place a final cover on its landfills when closed and perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions
at each site for thirty years after closure. These estimated closure and post-closure care costs are being
recognized in the financial statements referred to above at the rate of utilization of the landfill sites, As of
December 3l , 2022, the estimated total cost of closure and post-closure care was approximately
$37,400,000 of which $12,514,000 was recognized. The management of the landfill expects to use future
earnings to covff the costs of closure and post-clos'lre ,lare. More information regarding the accounting
for closure and post-closure care costs is available in t-e 2022 t-rnancial statements of the Aroostook
Waste Solutions.

(10) RrsK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of loss relaedtc city officials, city council liability, torts, theft of,
damage to and destruction of assets, errors and omissicns; injuries to employees; and natural disasters,
The City purchases insurance for all risks of loss. There have been no significant reductions in insurance
coverage during the year.

Additional risks include, but are not limited to military conflicts in Europe, the oil and gas market,
supply chain issues and inflation,

(11) TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (TIF) DISTzuCI

The City utilizes credit enhancement agreements with local business uncler the Municipal Tax
Increment Financing Rule of the Maine Department olEconomic and Community Development (DECD),
Under this Rule, municipalities may grant property tax abatements on the captured value of a business'
designated property improvements for purposes of lttracting or retaining businesses within their
jurisdictions, The abatements may be granted to ar-y b:siness located within or promising to relocate to
the City, For the year ended December 31,2022, the City abated property taxes totaling$143,462 in
connection with these seven agreements.

During August 2018, the City created a TIF Dis:rict with a local Company to facilitate the repurposing
of an elementary school for additional housing. The inprovements are privately financed by the
Company and are subject to an increase in the taxable'zaluation of the property, This District includes a

credit enhancement agreement wherein the City must provide 95% of any tax increment back to the
Company to reimburse qualified project costs, The City may use the remaining 5% for general economic
development purposes. Obligations under this District began in 2020 for a duration of up to 30 years,

During March 2006, the City created the Car:ibou Downtown Tax Increment Financing District, in
which the City can use 100% of tax revenue from i:rcremental new assessed value of property located in
the District to promote private development, The City entered into a Credit Enhancement Agreement
(CEA) with a developer in order to provide for the conrolidation of a state agency. Under the terms of the
CEA, incremental tax revenue over the next l5 years:esulting from improvements to the developer's
building will be returned to the developer. The re\€nu3 will then be used to reduce the state agency's
rental expense, The total benefit to the developer and state agency is expected to be approximately
$410,000 over the 15-year period. The TIF Districl was amended in 2008 and2014 to allow for costs of
public safety improvements, economic development, ard infrastructure improvements in the downtown
area. The TIF was extended in2020 and will expire i:r 2035.

2942



CITY OF CARIBOU MAINE

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 37,2122

(11) TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (.TIF) DISTRICT (Continued)

During March 2022, the City entered into a credit enhancement agreernent with a local company for
Tax Increment Financing District in which the Compa'-y will receive 80% of the incremental new
assessed value of the property to reimburse qualifid project costs. The City may use the remaining20%o
for general economic development purposes. Obligatic'ns under this district began in 2022 and will
continue through 2036.

During January 2022, the City created a TIF Distric: and entered into a credit enhancement agreement
(CEA) with a local Company. The improvements are privately financed by the Company, The CEA will
be for a duration of 14 years in which the Company wi-l receive 80% of the incremental taxes resulting
from the increased assessed value of the District. The rJity may use the remainin g 20% for general

economic development purposes. Obligations under this district began in 2022 and will continue through
2035.

(12) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has reviewed subsequent events through September 21,2023, the date that these financial
statements were available to be issued and determined:hat no additional adjustments or disclosures are
required in order for these financial statements to be fa.rly stated,

3043



CITY OF CARIEOI--, MAINE

Budgetary Comparison Schedule for the General Fund

For the Year Ended Decxnber 31,2022

Supplement I

General Fund

Budgeted Amounts

Original

294 901

15,087,491

1,572

1,572

Actual
Budgetary BasisFinal

REVENUES
Local property taxes

Homestead exemption reimbursement

Abatements

Other property tax related

Excise taxes

Federal and state assistance

Ambulance fees

Fire/Ambulance charge to towns

Billing services

Other licenses, permits and fees

Economic Development (TIF)
Other

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
Genera! government

Education
Health and sanitation
Public works
Police department and emergency management

Fire and ambulance
Insurance and retirement
Parks and recreation

Library
County tax

Tax assessment office
Tax increment financing
Appropriations to capital outlays

Other

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

Excess of Revenues Over Expenditures

OTHER SOURCES (USES)

Capital outlays in excess of appropriations

Net Increase in Fund Balance

Fund Balance - January 1, 2022

:5,089,065 _11,0_8gqg.l 15,682,842

$ 7,874,088

830,000
( I 3,5oo)

295,800

1,504,500

1,747,000

1,304,477
5 1 1,850

39,106
325,954
512,919
156,871

791,567

3,653,630
257,578

2,475,356
2,r43,936
2,622,708

91,37 6

748,546
23r,669
603,038
209,159

512,919
45 1,1 10

$ 7,874,088

830,000
(1 3,500)

295,800

1,504,500
1,747,000

1,304,477

51 1,850

39, I 06

325,954

512,919

8,005,452

835,682

( 10,702)

327,438

1,57 4,702

2,254,519

1,102,664

520,375

35,766

340,067

512,919
183,960

$

156 871

791,567

3,653,630
257,578

2,475,356
2,143,936
2,622,708

91,376
748,546

23r,669
603,038
209,r59
512,919
451,110

294.90r

1,261,692

3,653,630
260,090

2,435,253

2,051,371

2,465,446

82,445
720,280

21',1,187

603,038
199,262

512,919
45 1,1 10

241 549

15,087,493 15, 160,832

1 572 522 010

1,572

_ (36,405)

485,605

9,054,6r8

$ 9,540,223Fund Balance - December 31,2022 s 1,572 s 1,572

3144



CITY OF CARIEOU, MAINE

Note to Supplement 1 - Budgetary Comparison Schedule
For the General Fund

For the Year Ended December 31,2022

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The Budgetary Comparison Schedule for the General FunC (Supplement 1) presents comparisons of legally
adopted budgets with actual data on a budgetary basis,

tt45



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE
Supplement 2

Modified Approach for City Capital Assets
December 31,2022

In accordance with GASB standards, the City is requirec to account for and report infrastructure capital assets,

The City developed an implementation to determine the value of and included infrastructure cost in 2006,

The City has elected to account for their infrastructure assets using the modified approach as opposed to

depreciating them. GASB standards do not require municipalities to depreciate infrastructure if they can provide
the following:

An asset management system employed that:

- Has an up-to-date inventory of eligibie infrastruc:ur3 assets

- Performs condition assessments of the assets and summarizes the results using a "measutable scale"

- Estimates, on an annual basis, the annual amount needed to "maintain and preserve the eligible
infrastructure assets at the condition level established and disclosed by the government"

The City documents that the eligible infrastructure assets are being "preserved approximately at (or above) a

condition level established and disclosed by the government".
Asset Management

Condition Rating System Ratinp

Good 100-80 I
Fair 79-65 2

Poor 64-50 3

Substandard 49-0 4

The City established a condition level of 70% which is a 2 rating, The assessment itself may be made either by
the governmentalentity directly or by external parties. The condition assessment may be performed annually or
on a cyclicalbasis. For the period of December3l,2020 through December 31,2022, the City's Runway System

was rated at an index of 100. The detailof the condition assessments from December 31,2020 through December
31,2022 are as follows:

Asset Management

Condition 2022. 2021 2020 System Rating

Good 48% 35% 56% I
Fair 49% 55% 37% 2

Poor to Substandard 3% l0% 7% 3 and 4

Index rating 80 80 80

As of December 31, 2022,the City had 10,311,934 squme feet of roads with a historical cost of $5,159,583.
As of December 31, 2022,the City had 109,189 square feet of sidewalks with a historical cost of $243,750. As of
December 31,2022, the City had 619,000 square feet of runway with a historicalcost of $4,155,026.

All expenditures related to infrastructure maintenance will be recognized as a current expense since they are

not depreciated. Expenditures relating to infrastructure tha: are capital in nature (additions and improvements)

will be capitalized as part of the infrastructure assets becaure:hey increase the capacity or efficiency of the related

infrastructure asset,

Actual

$610,446

473,256

473,382

Actual from Reserves

$266,993

106,696

'343,448

2022

2021

2020

Eudseted

$613,861

471,000

489,000

3346



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE
Supplement 3

Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
For the Last Nine Fiscal Years

2022 2021 202A 20lg 2018 2017 2016 20t5 2014

City's proportion of the net

pension liability 0.1g8642yo 0.166299% 0.163962% 0.1627360/o 0.164850% 0.177237% 0.1574420A 0.t416460A 0.1387190/o

City's proportionate share of the

net pension liability (bsset) $ 528,061 $ (53,442)S 651,442 $ 497,422 $ 451,157 $ 725,674 $ 836,538 $ 451,917 s 213,462

City's covered-employee payroll 52,258,329 $2,058,065 $1,763,461 $ 1,793,591 $1,706,657 51,621,469 $ 1,553,062 $ 1,364,960 S 1,255'523

City's proportionate share of the

net pension liability (asset) as a

pcroentoge of itc covered-employee

Plan frduciary net Position as a

percentage ofthe total pension

liability %.gao/o 100.900/o 88.30% 90.60% 9I.IO% 86.40% 81.60% 88-30% 94.rO%

34
47



Contractually required
contribution

Contributions in relation to the

contractually required
contribution

CITY OF CARIBOU" MAINE
Supplement 4

Schedule of the City's Contributions

For the Last Nine Fiscal Years

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

$190,572 S l2g,ggt $ 10g,469 $ 104,430 $ 95,568 $ 89,994 $ 84,006 $ 65,501 $ 53,995

t90.572 129,99r 108,469 104,430 95,568 89,994 84,006 65,501 s3,995

Contribution deficiencY (excess) $ $

City,s covered-employee payroll $2,258,329 52,058,065 51,763,461 $ 1,793,591 51,706,657 $1,621'469 $ 1,553,062 $ l'364,960 $ 1,255,523

Contributions as a Percentage

$$$$$$$

pa

35
48



CITY OF CARIEOU, MAINE

Notes to Supplenents 3 and 4
f)ecember 31,2022

NOTEI-VALUATIONDATE

Only fiscal years 2022 through 2014 are reported. The amounts presented have a measurement date as

of June 30,2022. The City will continue to present information until a full ten-year trend is compiled.

NOTE2-BENEFITCHANGES

There were no benefit changes for City employees in the employees' retirement plan

NOTE 3 - CHANGE IN ASSLIN4PTIONS

There were no changes in assumptions.

NOTE 4 _ METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS USED TO DETERMINE COT{TRIBUTION RATES

Actuarial cost method E:itry age normal

Amortization method For lhe actuarialvalue as of June 30,2022,2021,2020,
2019,2018,2017,2016 and 2015, level percentage of
payroll using a method where a separate twenty-year
closed period is established annually fbr the gain or loss
fcr that year

For the actuarial value as of June 30,2014, the net
pension liability was amortized on an open basis over a

period of 15 years

Asset valuation method One+hird of the investment return that is different from
the actuarial assumption for investment return

Investment rate of return 65%l compounded annually for 2022 and 2021
6i5% compounded annually for 2020,2019 and 2018

6-875% compounded annually for 2A17 and 2016
7 .125o/a compounded annually for 2015

7 2f/o compounded annually for 2014

Retirement age 60 or 65, depending on years of creditable service at

certain dates

Mortality 2010 Public Pian General Benefits Weighted Healthy
Reti:ee Mortality Table for males and females, projected
generationally using the RPEC_2020 model.

3649



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINts

Schedule of Change in Net Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Liability -

Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust
For the Last Five Fiscal Years

2022 2021 2020 2019

$ 28,801

13,146
$ 24,494

14,890

$ 16,515

17,137

(9,616)
(37,988)
l37,l7l

(5.650)

117,569

404.254

s 19,105 $

15,055

Supplement 5

2018

15,625

12,0ll

30,784

62,272
l1

117.575

303.658

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost

Interest (includes interest on service cost)

Changes ofbenefits
Differences between expected and actual experience

Changes of assumPtions

Benefit palments, including refunds of member contributions

Net change in total OPEB liabilitY

Total OPEB liability - beginning

'l'otal UPHts habrlrty - endrng (a)

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - emPloYer

Benefit payments

Net change in plan fiduciary net position

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b)

District's net OPEB liabitity - ending (a) - (b)

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability

Covered-employee payroll

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll

$ 500,802 $ 594,286

$ 6,038 $ 5,806 $ 5,650 $
(6.038) (5,806) 5 6s0

(133,002)
3,609 38,885

(6.038) (5,806)

(93,484)

594,286

72,463

521,823

(45,706)
(s.433\

(16,979)

421,233

$ 521,823 s 404.254 g 421,233

$$$$$

5,433 $
(s.433\

3,117
t1

N/A

$ 3,048,055

13-8Va

$ 500,802 $ 594,286 $ 521.823 s 404.254 s 421,233

N/A

$ 2,685,510

18.60h

N/A

$2,971,088

20.0Yr

N/A

$ 3,048,055

L7.to

N/A

$3,048,055

13.30h

37
50



CITY OF CARIBC , MAINE

Notes to
December 31,

NgTEl-VALUATIONpATE

Only fiscal years 2018 through 2022 are reported.

5

amounts presented have a measurement date as

continue to present information until a fulIten-of January 1,2022. The City of Caribou, Maine
year trend is compiled.

NOTE2-BENEFITCHANGES

There were no substantive plan changes during

NOTE 3 _ CHANGE IN ASSI.IMPTIONS

The change in discount rate from 2.12% to 2.06c%

valuation,

Actuarial cost method

Investment rate of return

year 2022

the only cltange in assumption for the 2022

age normal

compounded annually for 2022

compounded annually for 2021
compounded annually for 2020
compounded annually for 2019
compounded annually for 2018

on I 12, l%o and I 18,5% of the 2010 Public
Benefits-Weighted Healthy Retiree

Table, respectively, for males and females

2.

2.
)
4.

1

7
1

4

Salary increase rate

Mortality

3.14

2.75

Plan

3851



ASSETS

Cash

LIABJLITIES AND FT]ND

BALANCES

Liabilities
Fund balance

Total liabilities and fund
balances

CITY OF

Snowmobile
Trail

Maintenance Housinq

$ 16,520

$$
16,520 152,033

$ 16,520

MAINE

Balance

For Non-Majrr
December 31, )

Economic

$ 152,033 667 t7

Schedule I

American Revolving Total
Rescue Loan Fund Non-Major
Plan #10 Funds

$ 598,998 $ 241,387 $ 1,676,255

667 3r7

$ 152,033 667 17

$

241 g7 1,676,255
$

598,998
$

$ 598,998 $ 24t,387 $ 1,676,255

3952



CITY OF CARIEOU, MAINE

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For Non-Major Funds

For the Year Ended December 31,2022

Economic
Development

American
Rescue

Plan

Revolving
Loan Fund

#10

Schedule 2

Total
Non-major

Funds

Snowmobile
Trail

Maintenanc_s Housing

REVENUES
Federal and state assistance $

Interest income

TIF Funds
Reimbursements

Other income

EXPENDITURES
Program expenditures

34,572 $ 105,138 S

65,736

2,500

$ 401,436 $ $ 541,146

1,695

3t5,379
65,736

6,477

1,695

315,379

Total Revenues 37,072 315,379

3,977

405,413 1,695 930,433

6l 749 t71,26J 231,934 48,385 513 333

Excess ofRevenues Over
(Under) Expenditures (24,677) (391 r 83,445 357,028 1,695 417,100

Fund Balance - January | 41,197 152,424 583,872 241,979 239,692 1,25.9,155

Fund Balance - December 3l $ 16,520 $ 152,033 s 667,3t7 $ 598,998 $ 241,387 $ 1,67 6,255

170,874

4A53



Balances

Janury I

$ 583,319

s 104,189

74,507

231,609

63,214

19,775

170,061

68,217

78,362
127,149

325,452

147,\?1

(1,082,828)

256.291

Appropri-
ations

$

600

41,250
77,800
26,920

191,000

1,600

I I1,940

ru

Grants/

Transfers

23,600

31,000

23,000

1,400
147,7Q6

3,653,630

$ 3.880.336

Other

$ 36,476

2,49O

64,175
2,592

25,310
180

370
7,640

15,006

32,434

$_rq!,691

Total
Available

$ 140,665

101,187

337,034
143,606

46,695

386,371

69,997
109,732

269,729

341,8.58

295,O27

2,570,802
288,725

Expenditures

$ 63,246

5,207

80,878

23,029

Schedule 3

Balances

December 3l

$ 77,419
95,980

256,156
120,577

46,695

4,757
61,822
60,458

(130,222)

328,254
142,837

(1,082,828)
275.4r4

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Schedule of Capital Outlays - General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31,2022

Department

Recreation

Library
Police

Fire
Ambulance
Public Works
Assessment Office
Airport
General Government

Economic Development

TIF accnrrnfs

RSU 39 Commitrnent

Other reserves

$

381,614

8,175

49,274

399,957

I i,6ft4
152,190

3,653,630

13,31I

$5.101.428 $4,844,109 s 257,319

4l
54



Balances

January I

$ 83,486

392,969

47,667
194,790

(41)
(8,000)

(45,252)
732

1,080

4,119

3,000,000
200

107,737

188,540

324,O82

Appropri-
ations

$

Total
Available

$ I12,696
399,381

47,667

700,205

Expendi-

tures

$ 25,550

6,145

lll,204

14,136

$2]1,031

Schedule 4

Balances

December 3l

$ 87,146

399,381

41,522

700,205

(8,000)
(45,252)

732

1,080

4,139
j,0nn,000

200
108,276

188,540

324,082

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Schedule of Non-Capital Outlays - General Fund

For the Year Ended December 31,2022

Transfers Other

$ 25,000Compensated Absences

Revolving Loan Fund - Cash

Revolving Loan Fund - Loans Receivable

Tax Relief Fund

Thursday on Sweden Street

Heritage Day
Caribou Marathon
Story of Caribou
City Retirement
F-etirement Resen,es

Rctircmcnt lnvcstmont Fund

Community Bulleiin Board

HRA Contribution Reserve

Resource Reserve Account
Aroostook Waste Solutions

Caribou Cares About Kids
Small Business Saturday

Miscellaneous events

505,415

$ 4,210
6,412

4t

17r,743

(8,000)

(45,252)
732

1,080

4,139

3,ooo,ooo
200

279,480

188,540

324,082

14,136

245
136

245
252

4
245

s 4.802.296

252

$l2elg7 $ sl]qlu $lgzpl2 $ 5,019,331

42
55



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Schedule of Property Taxes - General Fund

For the Year Ended D:cember 31,2022

Iotal

$ 822 116

8,387,007

15,760

8,402,767

9,333,048

23,791
10,702

8,367,54r

$ 734,397
r22,945

2(t23
Taxe:

$ (69,C28)

_ (u7\

2022

Taxes

$ 707,578
22,100

2021 Taxes
and Liens

622,782
9,486

158

t2 955

Schedule 5

Prior
Taxes

69,395

5,979
7 s',/

s 767

88,537

UNCOLLECTED AT
JANUARY 1

2022 COMMITMENT
($356, 1 36, 1 99 @.023550)

SUPPLEMENTAL TAX

COLLECTIONS
TAX-ACQUIRED PROPERTY
ABATEMENTS

I.INCOLLECTED AT
DECEMBER 3I

REPRESENTED BY
Real Estate Taxes

Personal Property Taxes

$ - $ (83,780) $740,461 $165,435

9,387,007

15 760

6),675

8,402,767

7 ,57 |,196
8,326
9,787

7 589 309 632,426 76,131

$ 857,342 $ (69,€75) $ 729,678 $ 108,015 $ 89,304

$ 95,080

6),e75

$ 857,342 $ (69,f.75) $ 729,678 $ 108,035 $ 89,304

4356



FELCH & COMPANY LLC
&.t(d Qut tt oftacounlantt

P.O. BOX 906
CARIBOU, MAINE 04736

(2O7) 49a-3176
FAX (2O7) 49A-6274

E-MAr L: cea@relcxcPA.coM

Independent Auditors' Repor: on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in

Accordance with Gov ernrnen' Auditing Standar ds

To the City Council of the

City of Caribou, Maine

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America

and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the

Comptroller General of the United States, the financial stat3nrents of the governmental activities, each major

fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Caribou, Maine as of and for the year ended

December 31,2A22, and the related notes to the financial s:atements, which collectively comprise the City of
Caribou, Maine's basic financial statements, and have issue d our report thereon dated Septembet 21,2023,

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit, we considered the C-ty of Caribou, Maine's internal control over financial

reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for

th- purpose ofexpressing our opinions on the financial staterr-ents, but not for the purpose ofexpressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Caribou, Maine's irternal control. Accordingly, we do not express an

opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Caribou, Maine's irternal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or cpe:ation of a control does not allow management or

employees, in the normal course of performing their assigrred functions, to prevent, or detect and correct

miistalements on a timely basis. A mqterial weakness is a deirciency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal

control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements

will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely bmis, A significant deJiciency is a deficiency, or a

combination of deficiencies, in internal controlthat is less sernere than a material weakness, yet important enough

to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section

and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal ccntrol that might be material weaknesses or,

significant deficiincies, Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal

control that we consider to be materiai weaknesses. Howe'rer, material weaknesses may exist that have not been

identified.

4457



'Io the City Council of the

City of Caribou, Maine

Report on Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether tha City of Caribou, Maine's financial statements are

free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its cornpliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,

contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which cculd have a direct and material effect on the financial
statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance wih those provisions was not an objective of our

audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be repcrteJ under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of orn testing of internalcontrol and compliance and the

results ofthat testing, and not to provide an opinion on the :ff:ctiveness ofthe entity's internal control or on

compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit perfonr.ed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not

suitable for any other purpose.

?eb/4 6 Con^pay AAC

September 21,2023

2
4558



FELCH & COMPANY LLC
&"t fd 9"0tu elccountantt

P.O. BOX 906
CARIBOU, MAINE 04736

(2O7) 494-3176
FAX (2O7) 49A-6278

E-MAt L: cea@rrlcucPA.coM

Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance for each

Major Program and on -nternal Control Over
Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance

To the City Council of the

City of Caribou, Maine

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

Opinion on Each Maior Federal Program
We have audited the City of Caribou, Maine's compliance w:th the types of compliance requirements identified as

subject to audit inthe OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and materialeffect on each of the

City's major federal programs for the year ended December -11,2022. The City of Caribou, Maine's major

federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors'results section of the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the City of Caribou, Maine complied, in ali rraterialrespects, with the types of compliance

requirements referred to above that could have a direct and n-aterial effect on each of its major federal programs

for the year ended December 31,2022.

Basis for Opinion on Each Maior Federal Program
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United

States of America; the standards applicable to financial auditl contained in Government Auditing Standards,

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; ard the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S, Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administative Requi"ements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements

for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilitie s under those standards and the Uniform Guidance

are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the City of Caribou, Maine and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in

accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit, We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for o;r opinion on compliance for each major federal

program, Our audit does not provide a legaldetermination of the City of Caribou, Maine's compliance with the

compliance requirements refened to above,

Respo nsibilities of M anagement for C omp liance
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,

implementation, and maintenance of effective internal cortrcl over compiiance with the requirements of laws,

statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or gralt agreements applicable to the City of Caribou,

Maine's federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whelher material noncompliance with the compliance

requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fiar.d or error, and express an opinion on the City of '
Caribou, Maine's compliance based on our audit, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not

absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted

auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and fhe Uniform Guidance will always detect material

tou 59



To the City Council of the
City of Caribou, Maine

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance (Continued)
noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting mate:ial noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher
than for that resulting from elTor, as fraud may involve collus:on, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresent-
tations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance w:th the compliance requirements referred to above is
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the City of Caribou, Maine's compliance
with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with generaliy accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards,
and the Uniform Guidance, we:

o Exercise professionaljudgment and maintain profe ssional skepticism throughout the audit,

e Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or enor, and design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks Such procedures include examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the City of Caribou, Maine's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to
above and performing such other procedures as we ccnsidered necessary in the circumstances,

o Obtain an understanding of the City of Caribou, I{aire's internal control over compliance relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on
internal control over compliance in accordance with tne Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Caribou, Maine's internal control over
compliance, Accordingly, no such opinion is expresred.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficienc:es and material weaknesses in internalcontrol over
compliance that we identified during the audit,

Report on Internal Control over Compliance
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federalprogram on a
timely basis, A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a feJeralprogram willnot be prevented, or detected and
conected, on a timely basis. A significant dejiciency in internal control over compliance is a cleficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal controlover compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program that is less severe than a material weaknesr in internal control over compliance, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identifo all deficiencies in
internal controlover compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control
over compliance, Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above, However, material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an cpinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any oth:r purpose.

?ehl 6 Con poy
September 21,2023

LAC

4

4760



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
For the Year Ended D:cember 31,2A22

SECTION I. SUMMARY OF AUDITORS'RESUL_TS

Financial Statements

Type of auditors'report issued; unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? _ yes

Signifrcant deficiencies identified that are
not considered to be material weaknesses? ves

Noncompliance material to financial
statements noted? yes

Type of auditors'report issued on compliance for major programs: unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are
required to be reported in accordance
with 2 CFR section 200,516(a)? _ )es X no

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

Material weakness(es) identifi ed?

Signifi cant defi ciencies identifi ed
that are not considered to be material
weakness(es)?

Identification of major programs:

Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish
between type A and type B programs:

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

No matters were reported.

No matters were reported.

_ yes

cFD/. #14,871

$750,D00

)- 'les

yes X no

Xno

X none reported

Xno

X none reported

_no

5

4861



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended December 31,2022

Federal Grantor/
Pass+hrough Grantor/
Program Title

U.S, Departrnent of Housing and Urban Developm-ent

Direct Award - Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers
Direct Award - Family Self-Sufficiency Program
Direct Award - Mainstream Vouchers

** Direct Award - Emergency Housing Vouchers

Subtotal - U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

U,S. Department of Justice

Passed through Aroostook County Sheriffs Office
Bulletproof Vest Program

Subtotal - U.S. Department of Justice

U.S. Department of Transportation

Passed through the State of Maine Bureau of Highway Safety:

State and Community Highway Safery
National Priority Safety Program

Subtotal - U.S. Department of Transportation

U.S, Department of the Treasury

** Direct Award - Coronavirus State and Local
Fiscal Recovery Program

Subtotal - U.S. Department of the Treasury

Total

Federal Assistance

Listing
Number

Pass-

through
Grantor's

Number
Disburse-

ments

14.87 |
14.896

t4.879
14.EHV

16.607

20.600

20,616

2t.027

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

1,468,743

N/A 1,942

$ 1,183,386

63,1 9 1

140,987

81,179

2,071
2,319

1,942

390

N/A 45,290

45,290

$ 1,520 ,365

6

** COVID Related funding

4962



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Notes to the Schedule of Expendi:ures of FederalAwards
For the Year Ended December 31,2022

NOTE A - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of FederalAwards includes the federalgrant activity
of the City of Caribou, Maine and is presented cn the modified accrualbasis of accounting. The
information in this schedule is presented in acccrdance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administralive Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Therefore, some amounts presented in the
schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation, of the basic financiai
statements.

NOTE B _ BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Reporting Entity
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures oi Federal Awards presents the activity of federal

financial assistance programs administered by the City, an entity as defined in the notes to the financial
statements.

Pass-through Programs
Where the City receives funds from a govefftrn€nt entity other than the federal govemment (pass-

through), the funds are accumulated based upon the Assistance Listing Number (ALN) advised by the
pass-through grantor.

NOTEC-TNDIRECTCOSTS

The City has elected not to use the l0% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Unifonn
Guidance.

NOTED_MATCHINGCOSTS

Matching costs that represent the City's share olcertain program costs, if any, are not included in
the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards.

7

5063



CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE

Schedule of Prior Audit Findings
For the Year Ended D:cember 31,2022

There were no audit findings reported for the year ended Dacember 31,2021that require follow-up in the
December 31, 2022 report,

I
5l64



City Manager's Report
October 10, 2023

 

Economic Projects

 Plan.

River Front - Powerplants
Met with EPA & DEP at the Riverfront Power Plants site to discuss CERCLA action. EPA contractors were also at the site to determine 
how to proceed with removing compromised materials from the building. 

Broadband Initiative The contract between the Maine Connectivity Authority and Charter / Spectrum was due back to MCA by 09/30/2023.

CDBG No new updates.

Ogren Dump Solar Project No new updates.

Events and Marketing
The 49th Annual Caribou Craft Fair is October 21 & 22 10-4 at Caribou High School with over 135 vendors. This is Aroostook County's 
oldest and largest Craft Fair and has really put Caribou on the map.

Landbank No new updates.

Chapter 13 Rewrite No new updates.

Federal American Rescue Plan Act No new updates.

Blight Cleanup Some owners are trying to do the right thing by working with the City, others are ignoring our efforts.

Birdseye Cleanup No new updates.

Caribou Development Committee Next meeting is October 18th at 6:00 pm

River Front - Master Plan LDD contract is on tonight's agenda.

Façade Improvement Program The application period has closed. Staff will bring a recommendation to the City Council at the next meeting.

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage No new updates.

Caribou Economic Growth Council Next meeting is October 26th at 7:00 am

Business Outreach Fall business newsletter is in the works. Small business Saturday is November 25.

65



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy See additional information on this subject.

Nylander Saturday October 14 @ 9:00 am will be the soft opening for the Nylander Museum.

Fire Structural Work No new updates.

Fire Station Renovations No new updates.

Police Station No new updates.

River Road No new updates.

Investment Policy No new updates.

Trailer Park Closure No new updates.

Cable Franchise Renewal No new updates.

Airport No new updates.

Personnel Policy No new updates.

New LED Street lights No new updates.

Comp Plan Update
Community Visioning and Update Session will be held on Thursday October 26 @ 6:00 pm at the Wellness Center. All are invited. 
Childcare provided.

LD 2003 Implementation NMDC received funding to begin working on this October 1.

15 Prospect Street Several meetings with owner. 

Water Street Fire On tonight's agenda.

Age-Friendly Efforts No new updates.

Personnel Changes Public Works, Caribou Police Department, Caribou Public Library and Caribou Code Enforcement all hiring.

DOT Village Partnership RFP is out. Bids due back October 13.

Aroostook Waste Solutions Construction of 5&6 underway despite all of the rain, only delayed 2 weeks.

Cary Medical Center 100th Anniversary in 2024. Planning underway. If you have old photos, memorabilia or stories, please reach out to Bill Flagg.

Administrative Approvals Jade Palace, Par & Grill and Caribou Inn and Convention Center liquor license and Special Amusement permits

Other Updates Congratulations to Spud Sweedway for a successful Caribou Dust Bowl.

66



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   October 10, 2023 
Re:   Manager’s Report – Special Section on Tax-Acquired Property  

  

The City Council has requested an update on the actions taken by the Maine legislature after the 
U.S. Supreme Court decision in Tyler v Hennepin County, Minnesota. 

Maine Municipal Association has provided guidance (enclosed). 

The actions that will need to be taken by the City of Caribou: 

• Delay sales of tax-acquired property to anyone other than the former owner 
• Review and update our policy on tax-acquired property 
• Review any sales of foreclosed property that occurred after June 30, 2023 

Other considerations: 

• Knowing that there will be increased responsibilities in disposing of foreclosed property 
(unless it is conveyed back to the original owner), does the City of Caribou want to waive 
foreclosure on any property that will automatically foreclose in November? Since it can only 
go back to the original owner, the only reason to foreclose is to force the owner to pay all back 
taxes before having a quitclaim deed issued. The property owner loses exemption status so any 
subsequent year taxes due would be at the full amount. 

• Costs to cure issues such as blight are not listed in §943-C(3)(C) specifically only that there is 
a provision for the expenses incurred by the municipality to maintain the property. This 
disincentivizes the municipality from allowing the property to foreclosure and then address the 
blight. 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

No action needed, this is for discussion so that staff can get direction.  

 

   

  

67



   August 31, 2023 
MMA Legal Services  

 

1 
 

MAJOR CHANGES REQUIRED FOR SALES OF TAX-ACQUIRED 

PROPERTY 

MMA Legal Services Guidance 

Updated August 31, 2023 

****** 

 

A recent U.S. Supreme Court decision and a new Maine law will immediately require 

municipalities to implement major changes to tax-acquired property sale procedures.  

What did the U.S. Supreme Court hold? 

In Tyler v. Hennepin County, Minnesota, 598 U.S. 631, decided May 25, 2023, the U.S. 

Supreme Court unanimously held that a government violates the Takings Clause of the 

U.S. Constitution’s Fifth Amendment when it sells tax-acquired property and keeps more 

sales proceeds than are owed in delinquent taxes, interest, costs. 

In Tyler, a Minnesota County foreclosed on Geraldine Tyler’s condo for unpaid property 

taxes, later selling the property for more than she owed in back taxes. Minnesota law 

allows the government to keep all proceeds from sales of tax-acquired property -- which 

it did in Tyler’s case. Tyler sued, claiming the County’s action violated the takings clause 

of the U.S. Constitution’s Fifth Amendment, which prohibits the government from taking 

property for public use without just compensation. Lower courts dismissed her suit for 

lack of standing on the grounds that she did not have a property interest in the sale 

proceeds because she did not own the property at the time of sale; full title had previously 

passed to the government. 

The U.S. Supreme Court reversed, holding that Tyler did state a valid claim. The Court 

held that property owners like Tyler have a property interest in “excess” equity from the 

sale of tax-acquired property. Although Hennepin County had the right to foreclose on, 

seize and sell the property, it violated the Constitution when it retained more in sale 

proceeds than the amount Tyler owed. 

Why does the Tyler decision matter to Maine municipalities?  

The decision is significant because the Minnesota law challenged in Tyler is similar to 

Maine’s tax lien mortgage foreclosure law (36 M.R.S. § 942 – 943), which vests full title 

in the municipality upon lien foreclosure and allows the municipality to keep all sale 

proceeds received from the sale of tax-acquired property.  

68

https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/22pdf/22-166_8n59.pdf
https://legislature.maine.gov/statutes/36/title36ch105sec0.html


   August 31, 2023 
MMA Legal Services  

 

2 
 

As a result of the Tyler decision, it is likely unconstitutional for Maine municipalities to 

retain all proceeds of tax-acquired property sales.  

The same principles likely also apply to sale proceeds connected to sale of property 

acquired through other municipal lien forfeitures, for example, lien foreclosures based on 

unpaid sewer or stormwater charges. 

Does this decision invalidate Maine’s tax lien mortgage foreclosure process? 

No. The Tyler decision does not invalidate Maine’s tax lien mortgage foreclosure statute 

or any past or present municipal tax lien mortgage foreclosure proceeding. The Court’s 

decision only impacts post-foreclosure sale procedures. 

Have changes to Maine law resulted?  

Yes. Immediately after the Tyler decision was issued, Maine’s Legislature enacted 

emergency legislation (PL 2023, c. 358), effective June 30, 2023, that independently 

requires municipalities to return “excess” sale proceeds. The new legislation, “Chapter 

358” has: 

• Repealed the special sale process for tax-acquired homestead property formerly 

owned by senior low-income persons (36 M.R.S. § 943-C);  

 

• Reformulated 36 M.R.S. § 943-C to instead establish sale procedures applicable to 

virtually all sales of real estate acquired via the tax lien mortgage foreclosure 

process in 36 M.R.S. §§ 942 - 943; and  

 

• Defined excess sale proceeds and required their return to the former owner. 

What sale procedures are now required? (updated 8/31/23) 

Effective June 30, 2023, if tax-acquired real estate will be sold to someone other than the 

former owner: 

(1) At least 90 days prior to listing property for sale the municipal officers or their 

designee must send a written notice to the last known address of the “former owner” 

by U.S. Postal Service certified mail return receipt requested and first-class mail, of 

the right to require the sale process in 36 M.R.S. § 943-C. (This Maine Revenue 

Services form must be used to provide notice to the former owner(s)). 

 

(2) If the former owner files a written demand within 90 days after notice, the 

municipal officers or their designee must list the property for sale with a real estate 

69

http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/bills/getPDF.asp?paper=HP0069&item=4&snum=131
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/foreclosure_notice.pdf
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/foreclosure_notice.pdf


   August 31, 2023 
MMA Legal Services  

 

3 
 

broker licensed in Maine. The broker may not hold an elected or appointed office in 

the municipality nor be employed by the municipality.  

 

(3) The municipal officers must sell the property via quitclaim deed to the successful 

buyer at the highest price at which the property is able to sell or the price at which 

the real estate broker anticipates it to sell within 6 months after listing. 

 

(4) Any excess sale proceeds must be paid to the former owner (see below). 

 

(5) If the municipal officers are (a) unable to list or sell the property as required above 

or (b) if the former owner does not file a request for the special sale process, the 

municipal officers may sell the property in any manner authorized by the 

municipality’s legislative body, provided that the former owner must still receive 

any excess sales proceeds. 

 

Who is the “former owner”?  

“Former owner” is defined in the new law as the “owner or owners of record at the time 

of foreclosure and if deceased, the former owner’s heirs, devisees, or personal 

representative.”  

What if the property was owned by more than one owner when the lien foreclosed? 

(updated 8/31/23) 

If tax-acquired property was co-owned by more than one person at the time the lien 

foreclosed (e.g., by one or more tenants in common or joint tenants), MMA Legal 

Services recommends that the required notice of special sale process be sent to each co-

owner at least 90 days before the tax-acquired property is listed for sale. The special sale 

process should be used if one of the former co-owners requests the special sale process. 

How is the amount of “excess sale proceeds” determined? 

The excess proceeds to be returned to the former owner is the amount of sale proceeds 

remaining after the municipality deducts the following amounts (see new § 943-C(3)(C)):  

(1)  All taxes owed on the property; 

(2)  Property taxes that would have been assessed on the property after foreclosure 

while the property was owned by the municipality; 

(3)  All accrued interest; 

70



   August 31, 2023 
MMA Legal Services  

 

4 
 

(4)  Fees, including property listing and real estate broker's fees; 

(5)  Any other expenses incurred by the municipality in selling or maintaining the 

property, including, but not limited to, an administrative fee equal to 10% of the 

property taxes owed and reasonable attorney's fees; 

(6)  The municipality’s lien and foreclosure process costs, including but not limited to, 

reasonable attorneys’ fees; and 

(7)  Unpaid sewer, water or other utility charges and fees imposed by the municipality.    

 

Are special forms required to provide notice to the former owner? (updated 8/31/23) 

Yes. Chapter 358 requires municipalities to use application forms, notices and 

instructions provided by the State Tax Assessor, Maine Revenue Services (MRS). A 

“Notice of Intent to Sell Foreclosed Property” is currently available on the Maine 

Revenue Services website: 

https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-

files/foreclosure_notice.pdf.  At this time, it is not clear whether MRS plans to issue an 

application form for the former owner to request the special sale process. Municipalities 

may contact MRS at (207) 624-5600 with questions about the forms. 

Which sales are covered by the new sale procedure? 

Chapter 358 applies to sales of tax-acquired real estate made after June 30, 2023 

regardless of when the underlying lien foreclosed.  

Is updated local authority needed to implement the new law?  

Possibly. Although Chapter 358 requires specific sale procedures, it does not 

actually authorize any sale of tax-acquired property – only the municipal legislative body 

has that authority.  

Unfortunately, existing warrant articles, ordinances or charters may not authorize (or may 

conflict with) the sale procedures now required. For instance, a warrant article or 

ordinance may require all sales to be conducted by sealed bid, which does not comply 

with or authorize procedures under the new law (Chapter 358 requires that most 

properties be listed with a licensed real estate broker).  

Some existing municipal articles or ordinances may be consistent with the new law; for 

example, an article broadly allowing sales within the municipal officers’ discretion would 

remain valid, assuming the municipal officers do comply with the new law. However, it 

71

https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/foreclosure_notice.pdf
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/foreclosure_notice.pdf


   August 31, 2023 
MMA Legal Services  

 

5 
 

may be better for an article to specifically address the required process and the 

municipality’s duty to return excess proceeds. 

Before proceeding with the sale of tax-acquired property, the municipal officers should 

review any articles, ordinances, charter provisions or internal policies addressing 

disposition of tax-acquired real estate for compliance with the new law. In many cases, a 

special town meeting or council action to revise articles or ordinances may be necessary. 

Charter municipalities should seek legal advice if the charter addresses tax-acquired 

property sales. 

What immediate steps should municipalities take? (updated 8/31/23) 

Because the law immediately limits tax-acquired property sale procedures, we strongly 

advise municipalities to: 

(1)  Review and update existing warrant articles, ordinances, charter provisions or 

policies addressing disposition of tax-acquired property to ensure consistency with 

the law’s new sale requirements;  

 

(2) Delay all sales of tax-acquired property until the municipal officers can confirm 

there is sufficient authority from the town’s legislative body to use the special sales 

process in 36 M.R.S. § 943-C; and 

 

(3) Obtain required Maine Revenue Services form(s) to notify the former owner(s) 

90 days before the date of an intended sale (to anyone other than the former owner) 

as required in 36 M.R.S. § 943-C.  

Does MMA have sample warrant articles that comply with the law? 

The following basic templates are offered as examples of articles that would be consistent  

with Chapter 358’s new requirements. We also recommend review by the municipality’s 

attorney before an article is presented to the town meeting for approval. 

Art. __. To see if the Town will vote to authorize the municipal officers to dispose of tax-

acquired property as they deem in the best interests of the Town, except that the 

municipal officers shall first use the sale process in 36 M.R.S. § 943-C if they choose to 

sell property to anyone other than the former owner. For sales to someone other than the 

former owner, excess sale proceeds, as defined in 36 M.R.S. § 943-C, shall be returned to 

the former owner. 

72



   August 31, 2023 
MMA Legal Services  

 

6 
 

Art. __.  To see if the Town will vote to require the municipal officers to provide the 

former owner(s) of tax-acquired property, or if deceased his/her/their heirs, personal 

representative or devisees ______ months to repurchase the property on terms the board 

deems in the best interests of the Town;  if the former owner does not repurchase the 

property the municipal officers may sell the property through the sale process in 36 

M.R.S. § 943-C, provided that if the former owner does not timely request that process or 

the board is unable to list or sell the property as required by § 943-C(3), the board may 

sell the property in any manner it deems in the best interests of the Town. For sales to 

someone other than the former owner, excess sale proceeds, as defined in 36 M.R.S. § 

943-C, shall be returned to the former owner. 

Art. ___. To see if the Town will vote to authorize the municipal officers to dispose of 

tax-acquired property via quitclaim deed by either (A) offering the property to the former 

owner(s) or if deceased, to his/her/their heirs/devisees/personal representative for a price 

equal to all outstanding taxes, interest, fees and costs; or (B) using the process authorized 

by 30-A M.R.S. § 943-C, provided that if the former owner does not request that process 

or the board is unable to list or sell the property as required by § 943-C(3), the board may 

sell the property through a competitive sealed bid process in which a notice advertising 

sale of the property shall be published at least twice in a newspaper of general circulation 

in the county. For sales other than to the former owner, excess sale proceeds, as defined 

in 36 M.R.S. § 943-C, shall be returned to the former owner.  

Should we require the former owner to agree to, or release claims for, the amount of 

excess proceeds returned by the municipality? 

At a minimum, the municipal officers should require the former owner(s) to acknowledge 

in writing receipt of any excess proceeds and the municipality’s accounting of deductions 

from total sale proceeds. 

Chapter 358 expressly allows municipalities to condition disbursement of excess 

proceeds on delivery of a quitclaim deed by the former owner releasing any potential 

interest the former might have in the property. A quitclaim deed is the strongest approach 

for protecting the municipality’s interests. Also, the reassurance that the former owner 

will release his/her claims on the property at the close of the sale process may address 

some potential title concerns for prospective buyers, possibly increasing the expected sale 

price (and former owner’s proceeds).  

Chapter 358 also provides that receipt of such excess proceeds by the former owner is 

deemed to be a waiver of the former owner’s right to challenge the lien foreclosure 

73



   August 31, 2023 
MMA Legal Services  

 

7 
 

pursuant to 36 M.R.S. § 946-B. (Section 946-B normally allows up to 5-years to 

challenge foreclosures of liens recorded after 10/13/14). 

At this time MMA Legal Services has not developed a sample deed for this purpose; until 

a sample is developed municipal officers will need to work with the municipality’s 

attorney to draft deed and release language, if desired. 

Does the new law apply to municipal sewer and stormwater liens?  

The newly reformulated 36 M.R.S. § 943-C does not apply to sales of property acquired 

through a lien foreclosure based on unpaid sewer or stormwater user charges.  

However, the constitutional principles stated in the Tyler decision likely apply to many 

types of government forfeitures. Excess sale proceeds received from sale of property 

acquired through sewer or stormwater lien foreclosures may need to be returned to the 

former owner. As a result, municipal sale procedures and warrant articles or ordinances 

governing sale of real estate acquired through other types of lien forfeitures should be 

reviewed and revised with advice of counsel.  

What if the former owner does not request the special sale process? 

If the former owner does not respond within 90 days of notice requesting the special sale 

process, the municipal officers may proceed to sell the property as otherwise allowed by 

the municipal legislative body. However, the municipality must still return excess sale 

proceeds to the former owner. 

The statute (36 M.R.S. § 943-C) allows municipalities the flexibility to determine the sale 

process in this limited instance. Unfortunately, no additional guidance on sale procedures 

or minimum sale price was provided by the Tyler decision. (Note that the sale price 

impacts the amount of excess proceeds, if any, to be returned to the former owner). 

Until additional guidance is provided by statute or the courts, in the few situations where 

section 943-C allows municipalities to choose sale procedures, the most cautious course 

of action is to use a sale process intended to obtain a reasonable sale price. To that end, 

municipalities may wish to incorporate elements such as ample notice, wide-spread 

advertising, and/or a competitive process. Options might include a well-advertised sealed 

bid process or a professionally managed auction process. (Note: title issues inherent to 

tax-acquired property usually mean that the market value will be lower than if the 

property was not tax-acquired.)  

 

74



   August 31, 2023 
MMA Legal Services  

 

8 
 

May we sell the property back to the former owner? 

The law allows sales back to the former owner assuming the municipal legislative body 

has provided that authority. 

However, neither Chapter 358 nor the Tyler decision provides guidance as to the amount 

the municipality may require the former owner to pay to repurchase tax-acquired 

property. Based on the constitutional principles stated in Tyler, municipalities likely 

should base the repurchase price for the former owner on the total taxes, interest, fees and 

administrative costs associated with the property. The list of costs contained in 36 M.R.S. 

§ 943-C(3)(C) may be helpful guidance.  

What about municipalities that already adopted ordinances allowing return of 

excess sale proceeds?  

Since 2015, Maine law (36 M.R.S. § 949) has allowed municipalities to adopt ordinances 

voluntarily returning excess proceeds to the former owner of tax-acquired property. 

Unfortunately, Chapter 358 does not directly address how its requirements coordinate 

with existing authority in section 949. However, because Chapter 358 is the more recent 

legislative enactment, Chapter 358 likely supersedes section 949 in any places where the 

two laws conflict. For that reason, municipalities that adopted ordinances under section 

949 should review those ordinances with legal counsel and revise them for consistency 

with Chapter 358. 

Unanswered questions: 

The Tyler decision and the recently enacted Maine legislation (Chapter 358) did not 

address several important questions, including: 

• How should municipalities provide notice and return excess proceeds when tax-

acquired property is abandoned or when the former owner is deceased, and no 

personal representative has been appointed? 

 

• How long must property be listed with a real estate agent before the municipal 

officers may determine they were “unable” to sell the property through a real 

estate agent? 

 

• How many real estate agents must decline to list tax-acquired property before the 

municipal officers may determine they were “unable” to list the property? 

 

75



   August 31, 2023 
MMA Legal Services  

 

9 
 

• If a reasonable offer is received through a real estate broker, is the municipality 

obligated to seek additional offers? 

 

• What obligations apply when a municipality retains tax-acquired property for 

municipal use? 

 

• What is required for tax-acquired properties the municipality sold before the Tyler  

decision was issued? 

 

• What obligation does the municipality have to seek the best price (i.e., highest 

surplus) for such property and what sale procedures are sufficient to meet that 

obligation? 

Chapter 358 established a working group to study issues surrounding tax lien procedures 

and sale of tax-acquired property. It is hoped that the working group will result in 

legislative proposals to address many questions left unanswered by the Tyler decision. 

MMA Legal Services is also continuing to review the Tyler decision and conduct further 

research on questions left unanswered by the Court. We expect to update this guidance 

in the future. 

 

Quick Links to Resources (updated 8/31/23): 

Tyler v Hennepin County, Minnesota, 598 U.S. 631 (May 25, 2023) 

“An Act to Return to the Former Owner Any Excess Funds Remaining After the Sale of 

Foreclosed Property,”  PL 2023, chapter 358 

Real Estate Tax Lien Mortgage Foreclosure statute, Title 36 M.R.S. § § 942 – 949. 

Maine Revenue Services Notice of Intent to Sell Foreclosed Property  

“Major U.S. Supreme Court Decision Impacting Municipalities,” MMA Legal Services 

Update, May 25, 2023 

******** 

For more information or questions, please contact: 

MMA Legal Services at 800-452-8786 or legal@memun.org. 

76

https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/22pdf/22-166_8n59.pdf
http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/bills/getPDF.asp?paper=HP0069&item=4&snum=131
https://legislature.maine.gov/statutes/36/title36ch105sec0.html
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/foreclosure_notice.pdf
https://www.memun.org/Members/Current-Issues/major-us-supreme-court-decision-impacting-municipalities
mailto:legal@memun.org


 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   October 10, 2023 
Re:   Manager’s Report – Special Section on LD 2003 / LD 1706  

  

LD 2003 was signed into law in April 2022 and requires municipalities to amend or create new 
zoning ordinances. It was designed to remove regulatory barriers to housing production, allow 
additional density for affordable housing developments, additional dwelling units per lot in 
residential areas, and accessory dwelling units on the same lot as a single-family home.  

LD 1706 clarifies the implementation date. The implementation date for Caribou is January 1, 
2024. I’m not convinced this is a reasonable target. The Department amended 19-100 CMR 
Chapter 5. That final rule was effective October 1, 2023. 

Housing Opportunity Program grant funding is available for service providers to support municipal 
ordinance development. The City of Caribou supported the application of Northern Maine 
Development Commission (NMDC) to obtain a 2023 Service Provider Grant. They were awarded 
the grant and could begin work on October 1, 2023. 

This legislation has established the Housing Opportunity Program within DECD and they are 
providing guidance (enclosed). 

The actions that will need to be taken by the City of Caribou: 

• Work with NMDC for ordinance development. 

Other considerations: 

• City can add provisions. Example: that one unit per lot with an ADU is owner-occupied. 
• Many areas of Caribou are served by subsurface wastewater disposal systems. 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

No action needed, this is for discussion so that staff can get direction.    

  

77



PL 2021, ch. 672 
(LD 2003) 

Housing 
Opportunity 
Program 

78



LD 2003 Overview

Housing Opportunity Program

• Signed by Gov. Mills in April 2022 to increase housing opportunities in Maine by requiring 

municipalities to amend or create new zoning ordinances.

• Designed to remove unnecessary regulatory barriers to housing production, while preserving 

local ability to create land use plans.

• Broadly, LD 2003 allows:

• For additional density for affordable housing developments;

• The addition of between 2 and 4 dwelling units per lot in residential areas;

• Accessory dwelling units on the same lot as a single-family home.

• Includes requirements that the

• State establish housing production goals; and

• Municipalities align ordinances with the federal Fair Housing Act and Maine Human 

Rights Act.

• Established the Housing Opportunity Program in DECD.
2023

279



Why does LD 2003 matter?

• LD 2003 is one tool to support the development of additional housing units in 
Maine by encouraging the development of many different types of housing, 
including affordable housing units. Not all units built according to the 
requirements in LD 2003 must be "affordable" as defined by HUD.

• LD 2003 removes regulatory barriers to creating additional housing, while 
allowing municipalities to:

• Continue to create land use plans and protect sensitive environmental resources 
through comprehensive planning;

• Regulate housing development based on documented water and wastewater capacity 
constraints;

• Enforce shoreland zoning; and

• Create rate of growth ordinances.

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 380



Affordable
Housing
Density 
Bonus

30-A M.R.S.
§ 4364

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 4

• Creates an automatic density bonus for certain “affordable 

housing developments.”

• To qualify for bonus, development must

✓Be approved on or after a municipality's implementation date;

✓Designate more than 51% of the units in the development as 

affordable;

✓Be in a designated growth area as defined by Maine law or served 

by public water and sewer or a comparable system;

✓Be in an area in which multifamily dwellings are allowed;

✓Meet shoreland zoning requirements, meet minimum lots sizes if 

using subsurface waste disposal, and prove that water and sewer 

capacity is adequate for the development.

81



Affordable
Housing
Density 
Bonus

30-A M.R.S.
§ 4364

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 5

• What is a designated growth area?

• An area designated in a municipality’s comprehensive plan that is 

suitable for development, especially over the next 10 years. 

• If eligibility requirements are met, the affordable housing 

development qualifies for the following exceptions to 

zoning requirements:

• The number of units allowed will be 2.5 times greater than the 

number allowed for a development not designated as 

affordable (base density).

• The off-street parking requirements may not exceed 2 spaces for 

every 3 units.

82



What does “affordable” mean? 

• For rentals: a household with an income at no more than 80% 

of the area median income for the community, as defined by 

HUD, must be able to afford at least 51% of the units in the 

development.  

• For homeowners: a household with an income at more than 

120% of the area median income for the community, as 

defined by HUD, must be able to afford at least 51% of the 

units in the development. 

• Affordable units must be restricted through a restrictive 

covenant for at least 30 years.

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 6

Area Median Income: 
• updated annually 

by HUD
• AMI data available 

on MaineHousing’s
website

83



30-A M.R.S. § 4364-A, Residential Areas; Up to 4 Dwelling Units

• Requires municipalities to allow between 2-4 
dwelling units on lots where residential uses 
are allowed, with evidence of sufficient water 
and wastewater capacity. 

• Municipalities may not apply different 
dimensional requirements to lots with more 
than one housing unit on them than they 
would to a lot with one housing unit, with the 
exception that minimum lot area per dwelling 
unit can be required, as long as the lot area 
required is not less for the first unit than for 
subsequent units. 

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 784



Number of Units

General Rule: Up to 2 Units

• Generally, a municipality must allow 

up to 2 dwelling units per lot if that lot 

does not contain an existing dwelling 

unit.

• A lot with an existing dwelling unit 

may have up to two additional 

dwelling units either attached, 

detached, or one of each. 

Exception: Up to 4 Units 

• A municipality must allow up to 4 units 
on a lot that permits residential uses if 
the lot does not contain an existing 
unit and:

• Is located within a designated 
growth area; or 

• Is served by public water and 
sewer (or a comparable 
designation) in a municipality 
without a comprehensive plan.

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 8

Municipalities may allow more than the minimum number of units described above. 

85



Example 1: Empty Lot*

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 9

*Or a lot without an existing residential unit

*

86



Example 2: Existing Home

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 10

Note: Orange units in 
diagram are intended to be 
dwelling units, not 
accessory dwelling units. 
30-A M.R.S. 4364-A  only 
governs dwelling units, not 
accessory dwelling units. 

Municipalities can define 
dwelling unit and accessory 
dwelling unit in local 
ordinance to differentiate 
between the two structure 
types. 

87



Restrictions on Additional Density

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 11

• If more than one dwelling unit is 
constructed as a result of this section 
of LD 2003, the lot is not eligible for 
any additional increases in density, 
unless otherwise allowed by the 
municipality.

• For example, if a lot owner 
constructed a duplex on a lot with an 
existing single-family home, a lot 
owner would not be able  to build an 
accessory dwelling unit on that lot as 
well, unless this was permitted in 
local ordinance. 

88



Accessory 
Dwelling 
Units

30-A 
M.R.S.
§ 4364-B

Housing Opportunity Program 

• This section allows a lot with a single-family dwelling in an area where 

residential uses are allowed, including as a conditional use, to have one 

accessory dwelling unit.

• The ADU can be:

• Within the existing home;

• Attached to it; or

• A new structure.

• An ADU is exempt from zoning density requirements but 

the dimensional requirements, including setback requirements, for a 

single-family home continue to apply unless the municipality makes 

them more permissive.

2023 1289



ADUs

30-A 
M.R.S.
§ 4364-B

Housing Opportunity Program 

• A municipality may not require additional parking for the addition of an 

ADU (except those allowed for the single-family unit).

• ADUs must be at least 190 square feet in size. Municipalities can set a 

maximum size.

• Municipalities may establish an application and permitting process for 

ADUs that does not require planning board approval.

• An ADU is permitted on a lot that does not conform to the municipal 

zoning ordinance, if the accessory structure does not further increase 

the nonconformity.

• Municipalities may regulate short term rentals in local ordinance. 

• An accessory dwelling unit that was not built with municipal approval 

must be allowed if the accessory dwelling unit otherwise meets the 

requirements for accessory dwelling units of the municipality and under 

this section

2023 1390



Other 
land use 

standards 
to 

consider

Housing Opportunity Program 

• Valid and enforceable easements, covenants, deed restrictions and other agreements 

or instructions between private parties still apply, as long as the agreement does not 

restrict constitutional rights.

• Subdivision law may still apply to lots.

• Shoreland zoning still applies to lots located within the shoreland zone.

• Municipalities cannot categorically prohibit ADUs in the shoreland zone but 

municipal shoreland zoning ordinances may restrict the addition of an ADU.

• Developments must comply with minimum lot size requirements in accordance with 

Title 12, chapter 423-A, as applicable.

• All units must be connected to adequate water and wastewater services before the 

municipality may certify the development for occupancy. 

2023 1491



Implementation Date

P.L .2023, ch. 192 (LD 1706) An Act to Clarify 
Statewide Laws Regarding Affordable Housing and 
Accessory Dwelling Units

• This legislation changes the implementation date 
for municipal compliance to the following:

• January 1, 2024, for municipalities for 
which ordinances may be enacted by the 
municipal officers without further action or 
approval by the voters of the municipality; 
and

• July 1, 2024, for all other municipalities

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 1592



Rulemaking

Public Comment

August 2-September 11

Summary of 
Comments

September 2023

Adoption

Late September/ Early 
October 2023

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 16

The Department is in the process of amending 19-100 CMR Ch. 5 because of the passage of LD 1706.

93



Which statues of LD 2003 apply to my municipality? 

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 17

Applies to municipalities 
with:

(1) Adopted density 
requirements and

(2) Designated growth 
areas OR public 
water/sewer

Affordable Housing Density Bonus
30-A M.R.S. 4364

Applies to all municipalities.

Number of allowed units on a 
lot will depend on whether:

(1) a lot is within a 
designated growth area OR

(2) a lot has public water/sewer 
in a municipality without 
a comprehensive plan

Up to Four Dwelling Units
30-A M.R.S. 4364-A

ADU
30-A M.R.S. 4364-B

Applies to all municipalities

94



Key Questions to Consider during Ordinance Review

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 18

Applies to municipalities 
with zoning with:

(1) Adopted density 
requirements and

(2) Designated growth 
areas OR public 
water/sewer

Applies to all municipalities.

Number of allowed units on a 
lot will depend on whether a lot:

(1) Is within a designated growth 
area OR

(2) Has public water/sewer in a 
municipality without 
a comprehensive plan

Applies to all municipalities

• Does my town need to amend existing sections or create new sections of ordinance to comply with LD 
2003?

• Does my town have established density requirements? 

• Does my town allow multifamily housing?

• Where are my towns growth areas, if applicable?

• Where is public water and sewer located, if applicable?

• What are my town’s parking requirements, if applicable?

• What are my town’s procedures for determining “adequate water and wastewater?”

• Does my town have water/sewer systems that could be considered “comparable systems?”

• Some provisions of LD 2003 allow for municipal choice (may vs. must) . Does my municipality want to set 
standards in these areas? See next slide. 

95



Options to Consider during Ordinance Review 

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 19

Applies to municipalities 
with zoning with:

(1) Adopted density 
requirements and

(2) Designated growth 
areas OR public 
water/sewer

Applies to all municipalities.

Number of allowed units on a 
lot will depend on whether a lot:

(1) Is within a designated growth 
area OR

(2) Has public water/sewer in a 
municipality without 
a comprehensive plan

Applies to all municipalities

30-A M.R.S 4364-A

Allow additional dwelling units than the number required pursuant to 30-A M.R.S. 4364-A

Establish a prohibition or allowance for lots where a dwelling unit is torn down and an empty lot results

Establish an application and permitting process for housing structures

Impose fines for violation of building, zoning and utility requirements for housing structures

Establish alternative, less restrictive criteria for granting variances pursuant to 30-A 4354(4). 

30-A M.R.S. 4364-B Allow ADUs in accessory structures

Establish more permissive dimensional requirements, including set back requirements for ADUs.

Establish a maximum size for ADUs

Establish an application and permitting process for ADUs that does not require planning board approval 

Impose fines for violation of building, zoning and utility requirements for ADUs

Establish alternative, less restrictive criteria for granting variances pursuant to 30-A 4354(4). 96



Questions?

Hilary Gove and Benjamin Averill 

Housing Opportunity Program Coordinators 

housing.decd@maine.gov

https://www.maine.gov/decd/housingopportunityprogram

Housing Opportunity Program 2023 2197

mailto:housing.decd@maine.gov
https://www.maine.gov/decd/housingopportunityprogram


 

Caribou Public Library • 30 High Street • Caribou, Maine • 04736 | 207-493-4214 

Caribou Public Library 
Where heritage meets innovation 

 
 
04 October 2023 
 
City Council 
City Manager Penny Thompson 
25 High St. 
Caribou, ME 04736 
 
To Mayor Smith, City Councilors, and Penny Thompson, 
 
The Library Director and Library Board of Trustees have put combined their efforts to create a Strategic 
Plan to guide library development and programming over the next 5 years.  
 
This plan has been broken down into a 2-year plan, and a 5-year plan. Each plan is comprised of goals to 
strive for and provides the library with direction, with the 5-year plan building on the goals of the 2-year.  
 
The Library Board has reviewed this plan many times and has approved this version of the plan. At this 
time, the Library Director and Library Board of Trustees are asking for the City Council to approve this 
strategic plan as an official working document of the Caribou Public Library.  
 
Respectfully, 
 

Peter J. Baldwin Jr 
 
Peter J. Baldwin Jr. 
Library Director 
 
  

98



 
    

STRATEGIC PLAN 
2024-2028 

CARIBOU PUBLIC LIBRARY 

30 HIGH ST. 

CARIBOU, ME 04736 

Peter Baldwin, Library Director 

LibraryDirector@cariboumaine.org 

(207)493-4214 

 

“Where Heritage Meets Innovation” 

99



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
1 

 

Contents 
Mission Statement ................................................................................................................................ 2 

Letter from the Director ......................................................................................................................... 3 
Purpose................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Vision................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Values ............................................................................................................................................... 4 
Code of Ethics ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

Library Bill of Rights .............................................................................................................................. 6 

Two Year Strategic Plan ....................................................................................................................... 7 
Two Year Strategies ............................................................................................................................. 8 

Grow as a Community Organization .................................................................................................. 8 

Encourage Community Involvement .................................................................................................. 8 
Expand our Presence ........................................................................................................................ 8 

Seek Alternative Funding .................................................................................................................. 9 

Engaging Young Minds ..................................................................................................................... 9 
Five Year Strategic Plan ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Five Year Strategies ........................................................................................................................... 11 

Merge the Library with Current Technology ..................................................................................... 11 
Preserve and Grow ......................................................................................................................... 11 

Assess Program Development ........................................................................................................ 11 

Advance Library Special Collections ............................................................................................... 12 
Acknowledgements ............................................................................................................................. 13 

 

100



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
2 

 

 

    
 

MISSION STATEMENT 
 
 
Our mission is to welcome, promote, and encourage our community to grow through 
learning and be empowered through knowledge. We strive to provide the necessary 
resources to strengthen and support education and lifelong learning opportunities. 
We believe it is important to uphold the public's right to know by providing equal 
access to information which reflects all points of view. Lastly, we will work hard to 
provide a safe and welcoming atmosphere to individuals and families. 

 

 101



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
3 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Letter from 

The Director 

We are pleased to present you with the Caribou Public 
Library’s Strategic Plan for FY2024 through FY 2028. This plan is 
ambitious, exciting, and will act as a framework to guide the library 
through its next five years of progress. During this period, the 
library hopes to use the Strategic Plan to better meet the needs of 
all citizens of Caribou by offering specific areas of focus. This plan 
was created based on the current needs of Caribou, with plans to 
assess the ever-changing needs of the community we serve.  

In assessing the needs of Caribou, we thought it prudent to 
address the issues of ageing within our fine city. A large portion of 
our current patronage and community is of an older demographic, 
which in turn expects a different degree of care from its community 
service representatives. For this reason, we have heavily 
considered the needs of older adults within our plan and have 
decided on several avenues to explore in the coming years that we 
feel will help to better meet the needs of our ageing population. 

Alternatively, we also plan to encourage more involvement 
by the youth of our community. The library has always had 
exceptional programming for children but has seen difficulty in 
engaging with the young adult population. To reconcile this divide, 
we are determined to offer more dedicated programming and 
educational offerings that are garnered towards educational and 
social education of our youth.  

This Strategic Plan is intended to be a living document; one 
that is flexible enough to change with the growing needs of the 
community, but with enough rigidity to purposefully direct the 
actions of the library in the coming years.  

The library exists to serve the community. If you have any 
thoughts or ideas for the library, you can email me at 
librarydirector@cariboumaine.org.  

Peter J. Baldwin Jr. 
Library Director 

102



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
4 

 

PURPOSE 
  
This strategic plan was developed by the Library Director and the Caribou Public Library Board of 
Trustees to guide the programs, goals, and direction of the Caribou Public Library over the next few 
years. 
 
Vision 
The Caribou Public Library 

• Is a community driven library that develops programs for the betterment of the City of 
Caribou. 

• Is a welcoming community environment that strives to meet the needs of the citizens of 
Caribou through the development of innovative and creative programs and services.  

• Utilizes its staff to their greatest potential to ensure a workplace of energetic and dedicated 
employees. 

• Uses community input to develop new programs and services that prove beneficial to the 
citizens of Caribou. 

• Fosters a cooperative environment between the Library Director, Library Staff, and Library 
Board of Trustees to make service decisions to match patron needs. 

 
Values 
 
Collaboration 

• We willingly work with outside organizations to bring together a variety of services that 
impact the education, learning, and care of our patrons. We recognize that the staff are vital 
to the library’s function and are responsible for the library’s success. 

Efficiency 

• We use all available resources to their fullest potential and inspire creativity in our 
programming. We use data from programming to create the best services for the 
community, while examining activities as the needs of the community change. 

Community 

• We embrace the wide cultures of the community we serve and seek every opportunity to 
expand our presence to those outside the library.  

Equity 

• We work towards an environment of inclusivity, seeking out an assortment of programs and 
materials that reflect the nature of our diverse community. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

103



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
5 

 

CODE OF ETHICS 
As members of the American Library Association, we recognize the importance of codifying and 
making known to the profession and to the general public the ethical principles that guide the work 
of librarians, other professionals providing information services, library trustees and library staffs. 

Ethical dilemmas occur when values are in conflict. The American Library Association Code of 
Ethics states the values to which we are committed, and embodies the ethical responsibilities of the 
profession in this changing information environment. 

We significantly influence or control the selection, organization, preservation, and dissemination of 
information. In a political system grounded in an informed citizenry, we are members of a 
profession explicitly committed to intellectual freedom and the freedom of access to information. 
We have a special obligation to ensure the free flow of information and ideas to present and future 
generations. 

The principles of this Code are expressed in broad statements to guide ethical decision making. 
These statements provide a framework; they cannot and do not dictate conduct to cover particular 
situations. 

1. We provide the highest level of service to all library users through appropriate and usefully 
organized resources; equitable service policies; equitable access; and accurate, unbiased, 
and courteous responses to all requests. 

2. We uphold the principles of intellectual freedom and resist all efforts to censor library 
resources. 

3. We protect each library user's right to privacy and confidentiality with respect to information 
sought or received and resources consulted, borrowed, acquired or transmitted. 

4. We respect intellectual property rights and advocate balance between the interests of 
information users and rights holders. 

5. We treat co-workers and other colleagues with respect, fairness, and good faith, and 
advocate conditions of employment that safeguard the rights and welfare of all employees of 
our institutions. 

6. We do not advance private interests at the expense of library users, colleagues, or our 
employing institutions. 

7. We distinguish between our personal convictions and professional duties and do not allow 
our personal beliefs to interfere with fair representation of the aims of our institutions or the 
provision of access to their information resources. 

8. We strive for excellence in the profession by maintaining and enhancing our own knowledge 
and skills, by encouraging the professional development of co-workers, and by fostering the 
aspirations of potential members of the profession. 

9. We affirm the inherent dignity and rights of every person. We work to recognize and 
dismantle systemic and individual biases; to confront inequity and oppression; to enhance 
diversity and inclusion; and to advance racial and social justice in our libraries, communities, 
profession, and associations through awareness, advocacy, education, collaboration, 
services, and allocation of resources and spaces. 

Adopted at the 1939 Midwinter Meeting by the ALA Council; amended June 30, 1981; June 28, 
1995; January 22, 2008; and June 29, 2021. 

104



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
6 

 

 

LIBRARY BILL OF RIGHTS 
The American Library Association affirms that all libraries are forums for information and ideas, and 
that the following basic policies should guide their services. 

I. Books and other library resources should be provided for the interest, information, and 
enlightenment of all people of the community the library serves. Materials should not be excluded 
because of the origin, background, or views of those contributing to their creation. 

II. Libraries should provide materials and information presenting all points of view on current and 
historical issues. Materials should not be proscribed or removed because of partisan or doctrinal 
disapproval. 

III. Libraries should challenge censorship in the fulfillment of their responsibility to provide 
information and enlightenment. 

IV. Libraries should cooperate with all persons and groups concerned with resisting abridgment of 
free expression and free access to ideas. 

V. A person’s right to use a library should not be denied or abridged because of origin, age, 
background, or views. 

VI. Libraries which make exhibit spaces and meeting rooms available to the public they serve 
should make such facilities available on an equitable basis, regardless of the beliefs or affiliations 
of individuals or groups requesting their use. 

VII. All people, regardless of origin, age, background, or views, possess a right to privacy and 
confidentiality in their library use. Libraries should advocate for, educate about, and protect 
people’s privacy, safeguarding all library use data, including personally identifiable information. 

  

Adopted June 19, 1939, by the ALA Council; amended October 14, 1944; June 18, 1948; February 
2, 1961; June 27, 1967; January 23, 1980; January 29, 2019. 

Inclusion of “age” reaffirmed January 23, 1996. 

 

 

 

 

 

 105



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
7 

 

 
 

TWO YEAR STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
To better develop goals for the Caribou Public Library, the strategic plan has been divided into a 
two-year and a five-year plan. The goals completed in the two-year plan will be reflected and built 
upon in the five-year plan. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Directions Goals 

Grow as a Community  
Organization 
The needs of the community 
are ever evolving, and the 
library must transform itself and 
its services to better align with 
current needs. 

 Develop an annual survey to be given to the public to determine 
interests and be used as a needs assessment. 

 Create a monthly newsletter to be emailed to patrons and be on 
display at several areas throughout the City of Caribou. 

 Enhance staff resources by getting another full-time employee 
and encouraging program development. 

Encourage Community 
Involvement 

The library functions better 
when the community is directly 
involved with the library, its 
services, and its programs. 

 Prioritize recruitment to the Friends of the Library; growing the 
foundation into a full-fledged, community led organization. 

 Increase library utilization throughout the community by offering a 
more diverse assortment of outreach programs across different 
organizations to reach all age demographics. 

Expand our Presence 
As a long-standing institution, 
the library should be a well-
known aspect of the City of 
Caribou. 

 Develop a library bookmobile that can be used for outreach 
programming, taken to events for book sales, and used in other 
communities and events in the area. 

 Increase library presence in local media outlets (e.g., WAGM, 
Aroostook Republican, Channel X Radio) to inform the public of 
the services of the library. 

Seek Alternative Funding 

Large projects often lie outside 
of the budget of the library, and 
special funding must be found 
for larger projects. 

 Consistently seek grant funding opportunities for library projects 
and programs. 

 Work with the Friends of the Caribou Public Library for 
fundraising opportunities within local communities. 

 Encourage donations to the libraries memorial fund to be used for 
vital library programming.  

Engaging Young Minds 

The library serves youth who 
engage with educational 
offerings such as STEAM, 
print, and technology materials. 

 Fully develop a Makerspace for guided creative exploration and 
independent study. 

 Create educational programs centered on computer design, 3D 
printing, and other STEAM topics.  

 Increase volunteer presence in the library utilizing local students. 

106



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
8 

 

TWO YEAR STRATEGIES 
 

 
Grow as a Community Organization 

          The Caribou Public Library is funded by the City of Caribou, and continuously strives to 
develop innovative programming targeted towards the attitudes and expectations of the public. To 
better understand these needs, the library will create an annual survey to be handed out to the 
public, outside of the library, to gauge the library’s perceived role in the community and to act as a 
needs assessment for program development.  
          These programs will be publicized through the distribution of a monthly newsletter to be 
available to the public, either in person or via email and on display in other areas of the city. As the 
staff is the library’s most valuable resource, the Library Director and Trustees understand the vital 
role they play in the development and continuation of programming, and daily service to the public. 
As such, staff resources should be expanded to include another full-time employee and provide 
more opportunities for the continuing education and training of staff.  

 

Encourage Community Involvement 

          The community the library serves is considered to be an ageing population with 25% of 
citizens being 65 years of age or older. The library intends to focus more of its energy on 
expanding outreach services to those who are unable to use their library due to difficulties that 
come with age, physical impairment, or ability. Additionally, the library seeks to partner with local 
nursing homes, hospitals, rehabilitation centers, and others to offer services that are needed and 
within the library’s role and ability to offer.  
          The library is community driven and relies on the support of the public to accomplish its 
mission. The Friends of the Caribou Public Library is a foundational organization that gives the 
community a more direct connection with their library, as well as a way to support it. The Friends 
support the library through volunteer and outreach efforts, and through fundraising. Funds raised 
by this group are used to support library programming and projects. Membership of this 
organization helps to improve community impact and better connect with the public.  

 

Expand our Presence 

          As discovered throughout COVID-19, the library needs a way to provide services and 
materials to the community regardless of the ability to enter the building. Mobile libraries are an 
integral part of public library service, and a cost-effective means of serving disadvantaged 
populations within the community. Likewise, a mobile library can be used in conjunction with other 
outreach programs at daycare centers, community events, and schools.  

 

 

 

 

107



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
9 

 

 

TWO YEAR STRATEGIES (CONT.) 
 

Seek Alternative Funding 

          Certain programs and larger projects require funding that exists outside of the city budget. 
Grant funding will be continuously sought to alleviate strain on the library’s budget. The library will 
partner with the Friends of the Caribou Library to increase fundraising efforts for library program 
support. 
           

Engaging Young Minds 

          The library recognizes that youth involvement in the library makes for a continuing userbase. 
The library should focus efforts on the continued development and completion of a Makerspace. 
Additionally, specialized programs shall be created to educate young adults on 3-D design, 
computer coding, and other STEAM topics.  
          The library is also reliant on the support of its volunteers to accomplish tasks throughout the 
building while educating young adults on library service as a career. Students should be offered 
volunteer service directly through communication with the local schools and homeschooling 
organizations. An additional program must be established as a partnership with the local schools 
and homeschooling groups to offer library cards to any student who requests them.  
 
 
 

3

4.5

4

2

1.5

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4 4.5 5

GROW AS A COMMUNITY ORGANZATION

ENCOURAGE COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

EXPAND OUR PRESENCE

SEEK ALTERNATIVE FUNDING

ENGAGING YOUNG MINDS

Board of Trustees Priorities

Average Ranking

108



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
10 

 

  

FIVE YEAR STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
To better develop goals for the Caribou Public Library, the strategic plan has been divided into a two-
year and a five-year plan. The goals completed in the two-year plan will be reflected and built upon in 
the five-year plan. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     
 
 
 
 

Directions Goals 

Merge the Library with 
Current Technology 
Access to current technology is 
vital for the library to meet its 
role in the community, and to 
offer up-to-date services that 
meet the needs of our users. 

 Assess the status of all library computers and printers and 
replace what is necessary by FY28.  

 Assess and/or replace the Integrated Library System 
(ATRIUUM) as the library needs grow. 

 Obtain grant funding for a Book Vending Machine (BVM) to be 
placed in the community. 

Preserve and Grow 

 Building assessment must be done through the MMA and the 
Caribou Building Committee and repairs must take place as 
necessary to ensure a safe environment. 

 Expand Library Building on the north side, creating a new 
children’s room, multipurpose room, second floor, and an 
additional ADA compliant entrance.  

 Dismantle or relocate the gazebo on the north grounds to 
elsewhere on library property. 

The library building is one of 
historical import as a Carnegie 
building and must be 
maintained and preserved. 
However, a building expansion 
is needed to meet the growing 
needs of the community. 

Assess Program 
Development 
Programming is one of the 
library’s main roles within the 
community. Assessment of 
these allow the staff to develop 
programs that are useful to the 
community. 

 Assess the Caribou Library bookmobile’s attendance at current 
city events, placement at schools, and adjust programming as 
needed with staffing. 

 Assess use of the Makerspace and develop further outreach 
programs at schools in conjunction with professionals to engage 
young minds. 

 Develop further ongoing partnerships with community groups, 
growing our current connections and expanding into other areas 
of the community.  

Advance Library Special 
Collections 
The library maintains an 
archive and museum that 
contain important historical 
records and provides services 
to other facilities and 
community members.  

 Encourage the expansion of the library’s archives to broaden the 
scope of local history materials and continue digital preservation 
efforts on an annual basis. 

 Develop a connection with the Nylander Museum of Natural 
History to create a partnership that will expand educational 
program offerings.  

 Further develop relations with the local genealogical and 
historical societies to establish a better network of archive 
materials and expertise available to the library. 

109



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
11 

 

FIVE YEAR STRATEGIES 
 
Merge the Library with Current Technology 

          The Caribou Public Library offers computer access to the public free of charge while utilizing 
specialized software to ensure patron confidentiality. The library also offers printing and lamination 
services as revenue generators for the City of Caribou. The equipment will be assessed as 
necessary and replaced to ensure the library offers up-to-date services to the community.  When 
library technology falls into disrepair, it limits access for the community. 
          The library uses an Integrated Library System (ATRIUUM) for all collections. The library 
system is to be reassessed to ensure that the software continues to meet the needs of the staff and 
the collection size and should be replaced as necessary, converting to another software that would 
prove more beneficial to the patrons of the library. 
          The library will apply for grant funding to institute a BVM to be placed within the community to 
reach patrons during hours when the library is closed. The Book Vending Machine allows patrons 
to receive newer books without the need for a library card.  

Preserve and Grow 

          The library building is one of the original Carnegie library buildings constructed in 1910 and 
had an addition put on in the 1960s. The building’s repair and maintenance needs are a priority for 
ensuring a safe environment for the patrons, employees, and the preservation of library materials. 
The Library Director will meet with the Caribou Building Committee to create a capital improvement 
plan that will ensure the continued maintenance of the library building.  
          As the needs of the community grow and change, the library will require further expansion to 
create a larger dedicated children’s room and multipurpose room, while expanding our second floor 
and allowing ADA compliant access to all areas of the library. For this purpose, the gazebo located 
on the north grounds will be dismantled or relocated to eliminate vandalism and ensure dedicated 
space for library expansion.    
 

Assess Program Development 

          Program assessment is a necessary library procedure for determining the usefulness of 
library activities, and whether they are considered a need within the community at present. 
Assessment of these programs allows the staff to alter current programs and services to meet the 
changing needs of the community. The Caribou Library bookmobile programs will be assessed to 
understand the use of the bookmobile service and begin expansion into further areas of our and 
other communities.  

          The library Makerspace will be reviewed for use statistics and considered for expansion into 
other programs, both on-site and at schools. Professionals will be sought for the creation of 
dedicated maker-based programs to teach skills like 3-D design, sewing, fiber arts, and other 
Makerspace topics. The partnerships with local schools and homeschooling groups will be utilized 
for the advancement of the makerspace, while also being examined for other outlets for increased 
partnership within the community. 

 

110



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
12 

 

 

FIVE YEAR STRATEGIES (CONT.) 
 

Advance Library Special Collections 

          There are two special collections associated with the library that are currently being 
maintained for use by community members and organizations. The library archives are considered 
a joint effort between the Caribou Public Library and the Aroostook County Genealogical Society. 
These archives serve to preserve local history and records necessary for research and 
genealogical purposes. The library will strive to work with archivists to ensure the preservation of 
records and materials. These records will continue to be digitized on an annual basis to better 
preserve print records and allow for ease-of access to researchers within and outside the 
community.  
          The Nylander Museum of Natural History is the second special collection of the library that 
contains natural history records and artifacts linked to Caribou history. A partnership with the 
museum will be created to offer more educational programs centered on STEAM topics and 
environmental studies.  
          This and other societal partnerships of the library will be built upon to ensure a collaborative 
network of materials, professionals, and programing available for research to be offered as a 
service to the community. 

 

3.166666667

3.5

1.833333333

1.5

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4

MERGE THE LIBRARY WITH CURRENT 
TECHNOLOGY

PRESERVE AND GROW

ASSESS PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT

ADVANCE LIBRARY SPECIAL COLLECTIONS

Board of Trustees Priotities

Average Ranking

111



 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN  
13 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 
The Caribou Public Library Strategic Plan was created as a joint effort with input from the Library 
Director, Library Staff, and Library Board of Trustees. Each of the following individuals were 
instrumental in this plan’s creation and the implementation of this plan going forward.  
 

2023 Library Board of Trustees: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 Library Staff: 
 

Gail Hagelstein, President 

Kathryn Olmstead, Vice President 

Heather Hale, Secretary 

Louella Willey, City Council Representative 
 

Kristine Bondeson 

Wanda Theriault 

Brianna Carlson  

Lisa Wilcox 
 

Peter Baldwin, Library Director 

Catharine Catranis 

Alice Doody, Library Volunteer 

Kim Ezzy 

Cassie Germain 

Wes Herbert 

Alyssa Singer 

Kirsten Young 

Approved by the Caribou Public Library Board of Trustees on October 3, 2023. 

112



 

 

 

Resolution 10-01-2023 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  
Approving the Caribou Public Library 2024 – 2028 Strategic Plan 

 
WHEREAS, The City seeks to provide enriching library programming, and 
 
WHEREAS, The Library Director and Library Board of Trustees for the Caribou Public Library have 
combined their efforts to create a Strategic Plan to guide library development and programming over the 
next five years, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou Public Library Board of Trustees has reviewed and approved the plan and have 
submitted the same to the Caribou City Council for their review and approval, and  
 
WHEREAS, The Caribou City Council has reviewed the goals and direction presented in the plan, and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL that the 2024 – 
2028 Strategic Plan for the Caribou Public Library is hereby approved and adopted as an official working 
document of the Caribou Public Library.  

 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 
10th day of October 2023.  
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Jody R. Smith, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk  

[City Seal]    

113



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
Date:   October 5, 2023 
Re:   Countersign the RSU#39 Bond Referendum Warrant 

  

 

The Regional School Unit No. 39 board signed the warrant and notice of election 
calling the Regional School Unit No. 39 Bond Referendum in accordance with 20-
A MRSA §1486 for November 7, 2023, at the Caribou Wellness Center, 55 
Bennett Drive from 8:00 am to 8:00 pm. 

 

This warrant needs to be countersigned by the Caribou City Council. 

 

Suggested action: 

Please countersign the warrant and notice of election. 

114



115



116



117



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   October 10, 2023 
Re:   Approval of contract with NMDC for LDD Services with NBRC grant  

  

The Northern Border Regional Commission (NBRC) Catalyst Grant requires that grantees utilize 
a Local Development District (LDD) for administrative work on the grant. The scope of the s to 
be provided is detailed in the contract and includes quarterly and final reporting, reimbursement 
requests and general assistance with understanding grantee responsibilities. 

LDDs are compensated for their contributions to grant administration through a reimbursement 
process with the grantee based on a formula of 2% of the NBRC award. The fee has been included 
in the grant amount as it is a requirement for grantees. 

In our area, the Local Development District (LDD) is Northern Maine Development Commission 
(NMDC). This is the next step in the process.  

The City of Caribou has not received a notice to proceed with the project. However, we are getting 
all the background work done so that we can put our foot on the gas once that notice is received. 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Please make a motion to authorize City Manager Penny Thompson to execute the enclosed contract 
with Northern Maine Development Commission for services as the City of Caribou’s Local 
Development District as required by the Northern Border Regional Commission. 

Second. 

Discussion. 

Vote. 

 

 

 

   

  

118



Northern Maine 
Development Commission 

Contract for Services 
 
This Contract for Services is made effective beginning on the effective date of NBRC’s Notice 
to Proceed, by and between Northern Maine Development Commission (NMDC) of Caribou, Maine, 
and City of Caribou (Grantee) of Caribou, Maine. 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES. NMDC will provide to Grantee the following services 
(collectively, the “Services”): 

• Quarterly Reporting: Ensure that the grantee files quarterly reports on time and 

adequate information to provide a meaningful outline of where the project is in the 

process. 

• Reimbursement Requests: Provide guidance to grantees on filing reimbursement 

requests and ensure that reimbursement requests are accurate, within approved budget 

and contain all the necessary documentation to provide evidence of match and 

reimbursements that are expected to be paid by NBRC. 

• Final Reporting: Ensure that the grantee has filed their final report and financial report in 

a timely manner after the project is complete. 

• General Assistance: Throughout the duration of this AGREEMENT, NMDC shall continue 
to inform Grantee of any developments, processes, or updates. In addition, NMDC shall 
participate in activities that it deems necessary and appropriate to said Grantee and thus shall 
invoice accordingly as part of its LDD administrative responsibilities. 

• The following administrative services are common services pertaining to the NBRC 
program:  

• Execution of grant agreements and submission of support documentation. 
• Establish financial accounting and management systems to ensure compliance with 

funding sources and submit required periodic progress reports. 
• Develop written procedures for procurement transactions and bonding. 
• Solicit competitive bids (Add on cost) 

1. Engineering services 
2. Other goods and service 

 
• Attend construction progress meetings. 

119



• Monthly requests for reimbursement, monitoring of matching funds. 
• Post-construction closeout reports, program monitoring, document files, etc. 
• Filing the annual SF 425 Financial Report 
• Complete and file the Government Performance and Results Act Report at closeout 

 
2. NBRC. PAYMENT. Payment shall be made to Northern Maine Development 

Commission, in an amount not to exceed $9,451 upon completion of the services 

described in this Contract. Payments will be made on a reimbursable basis, based on 

the number of hours worked. Charges may include wages, leave & fringe, out of 

pocket costs such as travel, plus the Indirect Cost Rate (ICR) as approved by a Federal 

Cognizant Agency. Approved ICR will be maintained on record by NMDC. 

3. TERM. This Contract will terminate automatically upon completion by the contract 

date as listed within the Grantee’s Contract between the Grantee and Northern Border 

Regional Commission or the completion of the project, whichever comes first. 

4. INDEMNIFICATION. Grantee agrees to indemnify and hold NMDC harmless from 

all claims, losses, expenses, fees including attorney fees, costs, and judgements that 

may be asserted against NMDC that results from the acts or omissions of Grantee 

and/or Grantee’s employees, agents, or representatives. 

5. DEFAULT. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute a material default 

 under this Contract: 

• The failure to make a required payment when due. 

• The insolvency or bankruptcy of either party. 
• The subjection of any of either party’s property to any levy, seizure, general 

assignment for the benefit of creditors, application or sale for or by any creditor 

or government agency. 

• The failure to make available or deliver the Services in the time and manner 
provided for in this Contract. 

6. REMEDIES. In addition to any and all other rights a party may have available according 

to  law, if a party defaults by failing to substantially perform any provision, term or 

condition of this Contract, the other part may terminate this Contract. 

7. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Contract contains the entire contract of the parties, and 

there are no other promises or conditions in any other agreement whether oral or written 

120



concerning the subject matter of this Contract. This Contract supersedes any prior written or 

oral agreements between the parties. 

8.    SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Contract will be held to be invalid or 
unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions will continue to be valid and 
enforceable. 
 9.   AMENDMENT. This Contract may be modified or amended in writing by mutual 
agreement between the parties, and by notifying Northern Border Regional Commission. 
10.  GOVERNING LAW. This Contract shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the 
state of Maine. 
11.  CONSTRUCTION AND INTERPRETATION. The rule requiring construction of 
interpretation  against the drafter is waived. This document shall be deemed as if it were 
drafted by both parties in a mutual effort. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by 

their duly authorized representatives as of the date the second party signs. 

 

Service Recipient (Grantee): City if Caribou  

Signature:    

 Penny Thompson, City Manager  

Date:    

 
Service Provider: Northern Maine Development Commission  

Signature:     

                                Robert P. Clark, Executive Director 

 

Date: August 30, 2023 

 

121



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   October 10, 2023 
Re:   Approval of by-laws of the Caribou Development Committee  

  

The Caribou Development Committee was established by the Caribou City Council. The 
organizational document for the Caribou Development Committee is found in Chapter 22 of the 
City of Caribou Ordinances. 

At their September 20, 2023, the Caribou Development Committee approved the by-laws found 
on the following pages. 

Section 22-104 requires that the City Manager forward the committee approved by-laws to the 
City Council for review and approval before those by-laws take effect.  

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Please make a motion to approve the Caribou Development Committee by-laws as approved by 
the committee at their September 20, 2023, meeting. 

Second. 

Discussion. 

Vote. 

 

 

 

   

  

122



Caribou Development Commitee 

By-Laws 

 

Ar�cle I. Name 

The name of this commitee shall be: Caribou Development Commitee. 

 

Ar�cle II. Purpose 

The Caribou Development Commitee has been established as a standing commitee by the Caribou City Council. As stated 
in Chapter 22 of the Caribou City Code and Ordinances, the  “purpose is to u�lize exis�ng and poten�al natural, financial 
and ci�zen resources to support exis�ng commercial ac�vi�es, atract new and complimentary businesses to Caribou, and 
strengthen industry rela�onships while maintaining and leveraging the iconic character of our community.” Other purposes 
and goals are iden�fied in Chapter 22, Sec�on 22-106 “Purpose”. 

 

Ar�cle. III. Members 

Sec�on 1. Number. The commitee shall consist of no less than 9 members. A vacancy shall not prevent the commitee 
from conduc�ng business. 

Sec�on 2. Qualifica�on. Any adult (18 years of age) who is a resident or taxpayer of the City of Caribou may serve on the 
Caribou Development Commitee. 

Sec�on 3. Appointment of vo�ng members (public). The Caribou City Council will appoint five members of the public to 
serve on the commitee for a three-year term, except as provided for in Chapter 22, Sec�on 22-102 for ini�al appointments. 
This does not preclude any member from being reappointed. 

Sec�on 4. Appointment of vo�ng members (ex-officio). The Caribou City Council will confirm the appointment of two ex-
officio members with vo�ng privileges. One ex-officio member from the membership of the Caribou Planning Board 
(appointed by a majority vote of the Planning Board members), and one ex-officio member from the membership of the 
Caribou Economic Growth Council (appointed by a majority vote of the Caribou Economic Growth Council members). Ex-
officio members shall serve indefinitely, at the pleasure of the appoin�ng authority. 

Sec�on 5. Appointment of non-vo�ng members (public). The commitee may also appoint an unlimited number of 
addi�onal non-vo�ng members.  

Sec�on 6. Appointment of non-vo�ng members (ex-officio). The Caribou City Council will appoint two ex-officio members 
without vo�ng privileges. One ex-officio member from the membership of the Caribou City Council (appointed by a 
majority vote of the Caribou City Council members), and the City Manager. 

Sec�on 7. Resigna�on. Resigna�ons from the commitee must be in wri�ng and must be given to the commitee chair. 

Sec�on 8. Vacancy. Vacancies, due to death, resigna�on, or any other reason, shall be filled by a majority vote of the 
Caribou City Council. 

Sec�on 9. Compensa�on. All members of the Commitee shall serve without compensa�on. 

Sec�on  10. Vo�ng. Each vo�ng member shall be en�tled to one vote on each mater submited to a vote of the Commitee. 
Members shall be in atendance to vote. Remote par�cipa�on is allowed for all standing boards and commitees in the 
City of Caribou. 

123



Sec�on  11. Conflicts of Interest. Each board member should review the state law on conflict of interest. Maine law 
encompasses four conflict of interest situa�ons that can occur: 

a. Financial conflict of interest – see 30-A MRSA §2605 
b. Prohibited appointments or employment – see 30-A MRSA §2606 
c. Bias – see 1 MRSA §71(6) 
d. Incompa�bility of office (various) 

Whenever a member has a financial or personal interest in any mater before the Caribou Development Commitee, the 
affected member shall: 

a. Fully disclose the nature of the interest 
b. Withdraw from discussion, lobbying and vo�ng on the mater 

Even if no actual conflict of interest exists, a member would be well advised to avoid even the appearance of a conflict to 
maintain public confidence in the Caribou Development Commitee’s work. 

 

Ar�cle IV. Mee�ngs 

Sec�on 1. Regular Mee�ngs. Regular mee�ngs of the Commitee shall be held quarterly at a minimum, or on a monthly or 
as-needed basis. 

Sec�on 2. Special Mee�ngs. Special mee�ngs of the Commitee may be held on call of the Caribou City Council, the 
Chairperson of the Commitee, or by any three (3) vo�ng members of the Commitee. 

Sec�on 3. No�ce of Mee�ng. Writen no�ce sta�ng the date and hour of each mee�ng shall be delivered, mailed, or e-
mailed to each member not less than five days before each mee�ng.  

Sec�on 4. Quorum. A quorum for the purpose of holding a mee�ng shall consist of not less than four (4) vo�ng members 
of the Commitee. 

Sec�on 5. Manner of Ac�ng. A quorum present, the act of a majority of the members present shall cons�tute the ac�on 
of the en�re Commitee, except as may be otherwise provided in these Bylaws. 

Sec�on 6. Parliamentary Procedure. Robert's Rules of Order, most recent edi�on, are adopted. 

Sec�on 7. The Commitee acknowledges that members may occasionally miss mee�ngs due to circumstances beyond their 
control such as job responsibili�es, illness, travel schedules, jury duty, or holidays. These will generally be considered 
“excused” absences. A commitee member will no�fy the commitee chairperson of their absence prior to the mee�ng.  

Sec�on 8. When a Commitee member misses three (3) consecu�ve mee�ngs, a vacancy may be declared by a majority 
vote of the commitee. 

 

Ar�cle V. Officers 

The officers of the Commitee shall consist of the following and such other officers as the Commitee may from �me to 
�me designate and appoint: 

a) Chairperson 

b) Vice-Chairperson 

c) Secretary 

124



The Chairperson shall preside over all mee�ngs of the Commitee. In the absence of the Chairperson, the Vice-Chairperson 
shall preside. The Secretary shall  record and present minutes  of each mee�ng. 

 

Ar�cle VI. Task Force 

A task force may be appointed as needed to accomplish a specific short-term objec�ve. The scope of work for the task 
force will be clearly defined. The crea�on of a task force will be introduced as a mee�ng agenda item and the task force 
will be set up by a majority vote of the Commitee. A�er the task force output is brought back to the Commitee, the 
output will then be presented to the Caribou City Council along with the next steps as suggested by the Commitee.   

 

Ar�cle VII. Books and Records 

The Commitee shall keep minutes of all proceedings of the Commitee and such other books and records as may be 
required for the proper conduct of its business and affairs. 

 

Ar�cle VIII. Repor�ng 

The Commitee Chairperson shall make an annual report to the Caribou City Council on or before January 31st of each 
year, covering goals, ac�vi�es, and accomplishments during the preceding year. 

 

Ar�cle IX. Amendments 

These Bylaws may be amended at any regular or special mee�ng of the Commitee. Writen no�ce of the proposed 
Bylaw change shall be mailed or delivered to each member at least five (5) days prior to the date of the mee�ng. The 
Caribou City Council must approve changes in the Bylaws. Bylaw changes require a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of the 
Commitee members present. 

 

These bylaws were approved at a mee�ng of the Caribou Development Commitee on September 20, 2023. 

 

By: __________________________________________________ Chairperson 

 

These bylaws were approved by resolu�on at the  October 10, 2023, mee�ng of the Caribou City Council. 

 

____________________________________  _______________________________________ 

Mayor, City of Caribou     Atest: Danielle Brissete, City Clerk 

125



 

 

 

Resolution 10-02-2023 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  
Approving the Caribou Development Committee By-Laws 

 
WHEREAS, The City has established the Caribou Development Committee, and 
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 22 of the City of Caribou Ordinances which created the Caribou Development 
Committee requires that the Caribou Development Committee establish by-laws that will be reviewed and 
approved by the Caribou City Council, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou Development Committee has reviewed and approved the by-laws and have 
submitted the same to the Caribou City Council for their review and approval, and  
 
WHEREAS, The Caribou City Council has reviewed the by-laws for the Caribou Development 
Committee, and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL that the Caribou 
Development Committee by-laws are hereby approved and adopted.  

 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 
10th day of October 2023.  
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Jody R. Smith, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk  

[City Seal]    

126



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   October 10, 2023 
Re:   Sale of Municipal Property – Pellet Silos  

  

In 2018, the Caribou City Council passed Resolution 02-02-2018 Approving a City Policy for 
Disposal of Surplus Equipment and Resources. 

The pellet boilers at the Caribou Fire Station and Municipal Building have been removed and 
therefore there is no longer a need for pellet silos. The silos have a value greater than $300 and 
therefore must be listed for sale under the provisions of the policy. 

The information available describes the one at the Caribou Fire Station as a 18T silo, 9’ X 18’ and 
the one at the Municipal Building as a 9T silo, 6’ X 18’. The City Manager has looked for the 
owner’s manual for the silos – none were found. 

The City Manager has reached out to Brock Industrial Products to obtain the value of the siloes. 
The email stated, “Either of those two type/sizes of silos would not typically bring more than 
$1000 for the 6’ to $3000 for the 9’ per silo at the very most.” 

The siloes still have pellets in them. A buyer will need special equipment to empty the siloes 
before the siloes can be moved, which will increase the cost to the purchaser. 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Please make a motion for the siloes to be listed for sale “as-is/where-is and on a first-come-first-
served basis” at a minimum price of $__________.  

Second. 

Discussion. 

Vote.   

  

127



128



129



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   October 10, 2023 
Re:   Discussion and possible action to consider accepting a deed to 7 Water Street  

  

The property at 7 Water Street, owned by Brian & Sharon Bickford, was damaged by a fire in 
January 2023. The Mr. & Mrs. Bickford are now three years behind on their property taxes and 
therefore, in November, the property will foreclose unless the Caribou City Council waives 
foreclosure prior to the automatic lien foreclosure date. 

The site needs significant work to clean up this blighted property. This could prove challenging 
due to the buildings on either side, the proximity to the Caribou Stream and the topography of the 
lot. The City Manager has had a conversation with the Maine DEP about the disposal of any 
remaining petroleum product in the heating fuel tanks. There will be an expense to that action. 

By accepting a deed to the property, the parcel would not be limited to disposing of the property 
according to the current tax-acquired property policy. 

City Attorney Rick Solman has recommended acceptance of the deed to facilitate the needed  
cleanup of this blighted property. 

 

POSSIBLE ACTION: 

Motion. 

Second. 

Discussion. 

Vote.   

  

130



131



132



133



134



135



Caribou Public Library 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

To:  Mayor and City Councilors  
  Penny Thompson, City Manager 
From: Peter Baldwin, Library Director 
September 2023 Report 
       
  This month began the official improvements to the Caribou Public Library. The 
graffiti on the back of the building has been officially cleaned and the brick looks 
incredible. The doors in back have also bee repainted a brilliant white. The same 
contactor began work on rebuilding our awning. Our patrons have been happy to use the 
Hight St. door and are glad to see it being fixed.  

Public works was out this month to remove the extensive network of vines from 
the building in preparation for the building paint to be refreshed. We are excited for this 
work to start and hope it is done before the snow comes! 

 We have had some changes in staff this month, with two of our employees 
leaving, and another on the way. Two positions have been filled for a Library Assistant 
and Cataloger. These employees will begin their first shifts in October. We have also 
received a resignation from our Children’s Librarian. We are currently acccepting 
applications for her position. We also have an employee out on Family Medical Leave 
until January. 

 The cataloging has been going well on the HotSpot program, with a new info page 
on the way for our website. The HotSpots will be available in late October, and all of the 
supplies have officially come in. 

 Children’s storytime and the infant & toddler playgroup has been suspended until 
a new Children’s Librarian has been selected. Our bookclubs and other programs will 
continue in the interim.   

That’s all for us at the Library, tune in next month! 

Peter Baldwin 

136



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 137



**As of 2020 the Maine State Library is now requiring that public libraries track renewals as part of their statistics. STEAM Kits made available in 
November 2021 ** 

 

138



Board of Directors 
September 11, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

Page 1 of 9 

 

Present: Doug Plourde, Chairman; Penny Thompson, Kevin Barnes, Dr. Shawn Laferriere, Mike Gahagan, Neal Griffeth, Jane McCall, Dr. Irene Djuanda, Kris 
Doody, RN, CEO; Dr. Regen Gallagher, CMO; Chelsea Desrosiers, CFO; Leslie Anderson, COO; Jenn Plant, RN, CNO; Paula Parent, RN, HR Director; 
Betty Hatch, PHS and Peg McAfee   

Zoom: Luke Dyer, Chris Bell, Mike Quinlan, Chip Holmes, Sam Brown, and Erika Sundrud, Ovation Healthcare 
 
Welcome:             Doug Plourde, Chairman, welcomed Betty Hatch, PHS Board of Directors; Chip Holmes, Sam Brown and Erika Sundrud, Ovation Healthcare 

AGENDA TOPIC ISSUE DISCUSSED & CONCLUSION PLAN OF ACTION PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

REGULAR MEETING    

1. Call to Order Doug Plourde, Chairman, called the Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors to order at 
approximately 5:30 p.m.  

Informational.  

2. Review and Approval 
of Minutes 

The minutes of August 7, 2023 were reviewed.   
 
 
 
 

Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
August 7, 2023 meeting 
minutes as presented.   

 

3.    Report of Chief of Staff Dr. Irene Djuanda provided the following updates from the August 23rd MSEC Meeting: 
 
Treasurer’s Corner – The checkbook total will be $6640 once the $4050 incorrectly deposited in the 
hospital account is refunded to the medical staff account.  The Medical Staff Executive Committee 
approved a donation of $1,000 to the 2023 Annual Medical Professionals Health Program.  Cary 
Medical Center agreed to match the donation, as in the past. 
 
Capital Equipment – The Double CPAP and baby software ventilator have been ordered.  The 
committee also discussed a potential back-up chemistry machine. 
 
Medical Record Deficiencies – The report shows significant improvement. 
 
Dashboard – Cary received a 5 Star rating from CMS.  Sepsis performance continues to be below 
compliance, however there does not seem to be a trend. 
 
Appointment Courtesy Medical Staff - Taysir Abusaa, MD (Pediatrics): The complete appointment 
application and provider profile of Taysir Abusaa, MD was reviewed with no discrepancies.  The 
report from the National Practitioner’s Data Bank contained no reports.  It was noted that this 

physician does not hold privileges at another hospital.  Upon motion duly made and seconded it 

was so VOTED to recommend approving provisional appointment of Taysir Abusaa, MD to the 
Courtesy Staff with privileges as requested through June 20, 2025.  Dr. Swanberg was appointed as 

Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
Report of Chief of Staff as 
presented. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
provisional appointment of 
Taysir Abusaa, MD to the 
Courtesy Medical Staff. 

 

Page 5 of 104

139



Board of Directors 
September 11, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

Page 2 of 9 

 

AGENDA TOPIC ISSUE DISCUSSED & CONCLUSION PLAN OF ACTION PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

proctor during the provisional appointment.  This recommendation was forwarded to the Board of 
Directors for action. 
 
Appointment Courtesy Medical Staff - Sherif Hanna, MD (Pediatrics) - The complete appointment 
application and provider profile of Sherif Hanna, MD was reviewed with no discrepancies.  The 
report from the National Practitioner’s Data Bank contained no reports.  It was noted that this 
physician does not hold privileges at another hospital. it was so VOTED to recommend approving 
provisional appointment of Sherif Hanna, MD to the Courtesy Staff with privileges as requested 
through June 30, 2025.  Dr. Swanberg was appointed as proctor during the provisional appointment.  
This recommendation was forwarded to the Board of Directors for action. 
 
Appointment Consulting Medical Staff - Thorarinn Bjarnason, MD (Cardiologist) - Thorarinn 
Bjarnason MD, (Cardiologist): The complete appointment application and provider profile of 
Thorarinn Bjarnason, MD was reviewed with no discrepancies.  The report from the National 
Practitioner’s Data Bank contained no reports. Upon motion duly made and seconded it was so 
VOTED to recommend approving provisional appointment of Thorarinn Bjarnason, MD to the 
Consulting Staff with privileges as requested through June 30, 2025.  Dr. Swanberg was appointed 
as proctor during the provisional appointment.  This recommendation was forwarded to the Board 
of Directors for action. 
 
Appointment Consulting Medical Staff - Rima Kanhoush, MD (Pathologist) - The complete 
appointment application and provider profile of Rima Kanhoush, MD was reviewed with no 
discrepancies. The report from the National Practitioner’s Data Bank contained no reports. Upon 
motion made and seconded it was so VOTED to recommend approving provisional appointment of 
Rima Kanhoush, MD to the Consulting Medical Staff with privileges as requested through June 30, 
2025.  Dr. Laferriere was appointed as proctor during the provisional appointment. This 
recommendation was forwarded to the Board of Directors for action. 
 
Appointment Allied Health Professional Staff – Traci Labreck, CNM (Certified Nurse Midwife) - The 
complete appointment application and provider profile of Traci Labreck, CNM was reviewed with no 
discrepancies. The report from the National Practitioner’s Data Bank contained no reports.  Upon 
motion duly made and seconded it was so VOTED to recommend approving provisional 
appointment of Traci Labreck, CNM to the Allied Health Professional Staff with privileges as 
requested through June 30, 2025.  Dr. Wall was appointed as proctor and supervising physician 
during the provisional appointment.  This recommendation was forwarded to the Board of Directors 
for action. 

 
 
 
Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
provisional appointment of 
Sherif Hanna, MD to the 
Courtesy Medical Staff. 
 
 
Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
provisional appointment of 
Thorarinn Bjarnason, MD 
to the Consulting Medical 
Staff. 
 
 
Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
provisional appointment of 
Rima Kanhoush, MD to the 
Consulting Medical Staff. 
 
 
Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
provisional appointment of 
Traci Labreck, CNM to the 
Allied Health Professional 
Staff. 
 

Page 6 of 104

140



Board of Directors 
September 11, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

Page 3 of 9 

 

AGENDA TOPIC ISSUE DISCUSSED & CONCLUSION PLAN OF ACTION PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

Appointment Allied Health Professional Staff – Teresa Hopkins, CRNA (Anesthesiology) - The 
complete appointment application and provider profile of Teresa Hopkins, CRNA was reviewed with 
no discrepancies.  She did report one malpractice claim, with a pre-trial settlement.  The report 
from the National Practitioner’s Data Bank contained one malpractice settlement payment.  The 
claim was reviewed by the Chief of Surgery with no reservations to present and recommend 
approval of appointment.  Ms. Hopkins does not hold privileges at another hospital.  She works in a 
large anesthesia group that covers services for a large hospital. Upon motion duly made and 
seconded it was so VOTED to recommend approving provisional appointment of Teresa Hopkins, 
CRNA to the Allied Health Professional Staff with privileges as requested through June  30, 2025.  Dr. 
Smith was appointed as proctor and supervising physician during the provisional appointment.  This 
recommendation was forwarded to the Board of Directors for action. 
 
Appointment Allied Health Professional Staff – Christina Zavatchen, CRNA (Anesthesiology) - The 
complete appointment application and provider profile of Christina Zavatchen, CRNA was reviewed 
with no discrepancies.  She did report one malpractice claim, with a pre-trial settlement.  The report 
from the National Practitioner’s Data Bank contained one malpractice settlement payment.  The 
claim was reviewed by the Chief of Surgery with no reservations to present and recommend 
approval of appointment. Upon motion duly made and seconded it was so VOTED to recommend 
approving provisional appointment of Christina Zavatchen, CRNA to the Allied Health Professional 
Staff with privileges as requested through June  30, 2025.  Dr. Smith was appointed as proctor and 
supervising physician during the provisional appointment.  This recommendation was forwarded to 
the Board of Directors for action. 
 
Resignation – James Faliszek, MD - The resignation of James Faliszek, MD was received effective 
June 30, 2023.  Upon motion duly made and seconded it was so VOTED to recommend approving 
the resignation James Faliszek, MD as presented.  This was forwarded to the Board of Directors for 
action. 
 
 
Resignation - James Parker, MD - The resignation of James Parker, MD was received effective May 
14, 2023.   Upon motion duly made and seconded it was so VOTED to recommend approving the 
resignation James Parker, MD as presented.  This will be forwarded to the Board of Directors. 
 
 
 
 

Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
provisional appointment of 
Teresa Hopkins, CRNA to 
the Allied Health 
Professional Staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
provisional appointment of 
Christina Zavatchen, CRNA 
to the Allied Health 
Professional Staff. 
 
 
 
 
Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
resignation of James 
Faliszek, MD. 
 
Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
resignation of James 
Parker, MD. 
 
 

Page 7 of 104

141



Board of Directors 
September 11, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

Page 4 of 9 

 

AGENDA TOPIC ISSUE DISCUSSED & CONCLUSION PLAN OF ACTION PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

Department of Emergency Medicine – Quality indicators have improved except for blood pressure 
measurement.  The discrepancy is due to a locum physician unaware of the measure being tracked.   
 
Department of Medicine – The department reviewed one peer review case.  Quality indicators 
remain good.  Dr. Manages gave a brief presentation on her new addiction medicine service.  Blood 
bank issues were discussed. 
 
Department of Rad/Path – The MRI project is on schedule; cardiac CT software was installed on 
8/23/2023 and training will occur in December.  Pathology result delays with the new vendor were 
discussed. 
 
Department of Surgery – The department has improved their medical record deficiencies.  
Discussion ensued around whether Dr. Crystal would be eligible for the honorary medical staff given 
his long service at Cary Medical Center.  This item was tabled so the criteria could be reviewed at 
the September Medical Staff Executive Committee Meeting. 
 
Maternal Child – The new department Chair, Dr. Salerno, has agreed to have monthly meetings in 
compliance with the Medical Staff Bylaws.  The department discussed issues with T-dap 
documentation, including when it occurs in their office and not in the hospital. 
 
Medical Review Committee – A new ER transport form was approved.  The form was also approved 
by the Medical Staff Executive Committee. 
 
Quality Management Committee – Double study CT scans were discussed.  This item will be 
researched and reviewed for compliance. 

Informational. 
 

4.  Quality Management  
      Committee, Patient  
      Safety Committee,  
      Dashboard  
 
 
  

Dr. Regen Gallagher reported the following from the August QM Committee Meeting: 
 
Old Business reviewed included:  CT Abdomen Studies were discussed. 
 
Utilization and Case Management reports reviewed included:  Readmission Rates, Delays in Stay 
(Internal & External) and Case Management Dashboard.  It was noted that letters of denial have 
increased. 
 
QM Compliance Indicators reviewed were:  Medical Staff, OR/PACU, Rehab Services, Nutritional 
Services, Lab and Radiology. 
 

Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
Quality Management 
Committee report as 
presented. 
 

 

Page 8 of 104

142



Board of Directors 
September 11, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

Page 5 of 9 

 

AGENDA TOPIC ISSUE DISCUSSED & CONCLUSION PLAN OF ACTION PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

2023 Dashboard – The sepsis inpatient core measure was discussed.  It was noted there is now an 
app that can be downloaded to cell phones that assists with the timeline of sepsis.  Data for Q2 is 
included for the medical staff indicators and departmental leadership indicators. 
 
Customer Satisfaction – Leslie Anderson reported information for customer satisfaction is for Q2, 
Q3 has not closed yet.  Initiatives for 2023 are:  meals, care transitions, medication communication, 
quietness and response of staff. 
 
Patient Complaints – Leslie reported there were ten complaints received and resolved for Q3.  The 
highest number of complaints continue to be ‘perception of care’.   
 
Patient Safety Committee – There was no meeting in July and August. 

5.  Report of Chairman,  
     Board of Directors –  
     Doug Plourde, Chairman 
 

a. Report from Board 
Members – PHS, 
MSEC 

 
 
 

b. Other 
 

 

Doug Plourde provided the following updates:   
 
 
 
Pines Health Services – Doug Plourde was unable to attend the Pines Health Services Board 
Meeting. 
 
Medical Staff Executive Committee – Mike Quinlan was unable to attend the meeting, however, he 
reported that Dr. Djuanda summarized on the recent MSEC Committee during her report. 
 
Other – Doug Plourde took a moment to announce that this was Leslie Anderson’s last Board 
meeting as COO.  He thanked Leslie for her many years of service to Cary Medical Center, her 
professionalism in her role of COO and the many things she as accomplished throughout those 
years. 

Informational. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

6.  Report of CEO –  
     Kris Doody 
 

a. Physician 
Recruitment and 
Retention 

 
 
 
 

Kris Doody reported the following, noting more information is available in the CEO and Provider 
Activity Reports: 
 
Physician Recruitment –  

 Hem/Onc – Dr. Elena Vagia is now working full-time at the Jefferson Cary Cancer Center 
and has purchased a home in Caribou. Dr. Zimbler will be providing part-time coverage 
during 2023 and into 2024. 

 Pathology – The services with Dahl Chase for Pathology coverage with Dr. Rick Riemersma, 
Pathologist as Medical Director has been well received.  There were some issues with 

Informational. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9 of 104

143



Board of Directors 
September 11, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

Page 6 of 9 

 

AGENDA TOPIC ISSUE DISCUSSED & CONCLUSION PLAN OF ACTION PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
b. MRI Project 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

c. COVID Updates 
 

receiving reports in a timely fashion.  This is being addressed with the team at Dahl-Chase.   

 Hospitalist – Dr. Alexander Bolton, locum hospitalist will be covering through the end of 
the year and possibly into the beginning of 2024 while we recruit for a permanent 
hospitalist for 2024. Site visits will be planned as necessary.   

 Pediatrics – With Dr. Karunasiri’s recent departure, locums Dr. Abussa, Dr. Hanna and Dr. 
Fritz will be assisting with coverage through the end of the year.  Zoom interviews have 
been completed with interested pediatricians.  Site visits will be planned as necessary.   

 OB/GYN – Dr. Karen Bossie will continue to provide one weekend per month coverage 
through 2023.  A locum OB/GYN, Dr. Tanner, has been secured to assist with coverage. 
Traci Labreck, CNM is doing well in her new position as a Certified Nurse Midwife.   

 Podiatry – A site visit is planned for September 13th – 18th with Dr. Jackson Law, Surgical 
Podiatrist.  Dr. Law is a 2024 candidate and will be visiting with his wife and two young 
children. 

 Ongoing Recruitment – Recruitment is ongoing for pediatrics, primary care, orthopedics, 
OB/GYN and anesthesia (CRNA). 

 
MRI Project – Leslie Anderson reported that the old magnet was removed on September 9th.  The 
room is being remodeled to include replacing the door, adding a second changing room so patients 
will be able to process through appointments faster and possible upgrades to windows.  Canon will 
be on-site to conduct a room inspection.  The entire room needs to be shielded in copper.  The new 
magnet will be installed 9/22.  It will take Canon ten days to finish processing the new magnet.  
Training will be scheduled for the MRI staff.  The ‘go-live’ date is mid-October.  This will be the 
largest bore MRI in the State.  The new machine is very quiet and will have an MR Theatre for 
patients bothered with claustrophobia, providing scenery for viewing.  Four Cary techs were trained 
on this new machine in California.     
 
COVID Updates – Dr. Gallagher reported that cases are increasing in the County.  There are some 
inpatients and some staff with COVID has been purchased.  The State of Maine Legislature has 
removed the COVID vaccination requirement.  The new COVID booster has been purchased that 
covers XB 1.5; Cary Medical Center will be carrying the Moderna vaccination as it has a longer shelf 
life.  There will be some Astra Zeneca vaccines for those that do no prefer the MRNA vaccine.  
Hebert’s Pharmacy in Van Buren is interested in collaborating as they have in the past.  Additional 
information and vaccination requirements have not been received from the CDC. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 10 of 104

144



Board of Directors 
September 11, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

Page 7 of 9 

 

AGENDA TOPIC ISSUE DISCUSSED & CONCLUSION PLAN OF ACTION PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

7.  Report of Finance & 
     Personnel Committee 

a. July Financials 
 
 

Chelsea Desrosiers and Chris Bell provided the following updates: 
 
July Financials - Chelsea Desrosiers provided an overview of the July 2023 Financials for Cary 
Medical Center, including review of:  gross patient revenue, net operating revenue, expenses, 
COVID funding and net income (loss).   
 
Other – Chelsea reported that Cary has partnered with Amplify/Ovation to review Aged AR.  They 
are currently 45 days into the agreement and are transitioning well.     
 
Settlements – Chelsea noted that settlements are being finalized with CMS and Anthem for 
approximately $1.5M over a 3 year period. 

Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
report of the Finance & 
Personnel Committee July 
as presented.   
 
 

 

8.  Compliance Quarterly  
     Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

a. Annual Physician 
Contract Audit 

Dr. Regen Gallagher provided the following updates: 
 

 Ongoing audits include:  Fiscal - US Census 2023 Annual Public Payment/Payroll, Anthem 
Audit 2021, 2022 and PIP interim 2022 settlement; MaineCare settlements 2019 (Final) 
2021 (interim); L’Acadie Cost Report 2022.  Human Resources – Benefit Class, Child Labor 
and OIG Checks. 

 Compliance Hotline – One call was received in July. It was a patient complaint of a possible 
HIPAA breech.  The complaint was investigated, addressed and will be reported as part of 
our annual HIPAA reporting.  The hotline is advertised widely on signage throughout the 
organization, reviewed in annual training and included in any other compliance related 
communications. 

 Healthicity – This program is used for OIG exclusion checks.  The contract was recently 
renewed. 

 Contracts – Two CRNA per diems contracts were fully executed.  Two Anesthesiologists, 
and one ED NP renewal were fully executed.  

 QHR Compliance Risk Assessment – The assessment was completed in September 2022.  
Work is ongoing on items noted in the risk assessment.  This was reviewed at the August 
Compliance Meeting.   

 
Annual Physician Contract Audit – The annual physician contract audit was completed in June 2023.  
No discrepancies were found.  The review will be presented to the Board of Directors in September 
each year. 
 
 

Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
voted to approve the 
Compliance Quarterly 
Report as presented. 

 

Page 11 of 104

145



Board of Directors 
September 11, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

Page 8 of 9 

 

AGENDA TOPIC ISSUE DISCUSSED & CONCLUSION PLAN OF ACTION PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

9.  Nursing Quarterly 
Report 

Jenn Plant provided the following updates: 
 

 Current Nursing Recruitment – RN’s are being recruited in ACU, ED, Maternal Child, 
Oncology, SCU and Supervision.  The OR is now fully staffed with RN’s.  CNAs are being 
recruited for ACU and Respiratory.  Surgical techs and respiratory therapists are also being 
recruited. 

 Nursing Overview 2023 of Position Status – Cary employs 153 RNs, 4 LPNs and 1 New Nurse 
Grads (NNGs).  There are 89 full-time, 22 part-time and 47 on-call nurses.  There have been 
some leadership changes.  Some full-time nurses have moved to per diem or part-time 
positions. 

 Patient Safety Measures – Ongoing patient safety includes medication barcode scanning, 
inpatient fall and AHA education compliance. 

 2023 Education and Training includes:  ED Cardiac Case Study by Dr. Collamore, End of Life 
Care Lunch & Learn by Hospice of Aroostook and Mockler Funeral Home, OB Post-Partum 
Hemorrhage Care (Jada is a new device to Cary), Hospital-wide Mass Casualty Incident Drill 
with follow-up de-briefing meetings and Code 99 Drill will occur in the OR in October.   

Upon motion duly made 
and seconded, it was so 
VOTED to approve the 
Nursing Quarterly Report 
as presented. 
 
 
 

 

10.  Ovation Healthcare 
        Updates 

Chip Holmes provided the following updates: 
 

 Supply Chain – Ops Assessment – a second round will be completed in person by year-end 
for Lab Inventory and Food Service.   

 Ovation is able to assist with budget, bad debt, billing and collecting. 

 Chip Holmes and Erika Sundrud will be on-site at October 2nd Board of Directors Meeting to 
provide an education session. 

 Ovation is currently conducting a review of current changes in the healthcare industry.  

Informational.  

11. Other, Adjournment &  
      Next Meeting 

Other – Kris Doody provided an update on the Caribou Hospital District.  Rick Solman, Attorney for 
the City of Caribou and Ben Townsend, Cary’s Attorney have discussed the CHD structure and 
bylaws.  A response from Rick Solman was sent to Ben Townsend in August 2023.  The last time the 
CHD bylaws were reviewed by legal counsel and approved by the District was in 2019.  At the end of 
2020, the members of the District made changes to the bylaws.  It cannot be determined if the 
bylaws at that time were reviewed by legal counsel and the conflict of interest section was removed 
from the bylaws in 2020.  Mr. Townsend created new bylaws in April 2023 with the addition of the 
conflict of interest.  The bylaws will be provided to the District for final review and approval.   Plans 
are to have a meeting within the next 30 days once schedules can be coordinated.    
 
 

Informational. 
 
 

 

Page 12 of 104

146



Board of Directors 
September 11, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

Page 9 of 9 

 

AGENDA TOPIC ISSUE DISCUSSED & CONCLUSION PLAN OF ACTION PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE 

City Council Workshops – Plans are to once again host City Council Workshops in person.   
 
Adjournment - Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was so VOTED to adjourn the meeting at 
approximately 6:48 p.m.   
 
Next Meeting –The next meeting of the Board of Directors is scheduled for Monday, October 2, 
2023, 5:30 p.m.   

                  Prepared by:  Marguerite E. McAfee (Peg), Executive Assistant to the CEO & COO 
 

              Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
              Kris Doody, RN, MSB, CEO 

Page 13 of 104

147



Monthly Permit Report

September 2023

CURRENT YEAR PRIOR YEAR PRIOR YEAR

MONTH TO DATE MONTH TO DATE

BUILDING PERMITS 3 35 5 45

HOMES 0 4 0 2

MOBILE HOMES 0 0 0 2

MULTI-FAMILY 0 0 0 0

COMMERCIAL 0 11 0 5

EXEMPT 0 4 0 1

PLUMBING PERMITS

INTERNAL 1 12 0 11

EXTERNAL 0 9 1 6

DEMO PERMITS 0 9 1 16

SIGN PERMITS 0 3 1 12

Year-to-Date is January 2023 to September 2023

148


